
Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg
Lleoliad:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 1 - y Senedd
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 30 Tachwedd 
2016
Amser: 09.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Marc Wyn Jones
Clerc y Pwyllgor
0300 200 6565 
SeneddPPIA@cynulliad.cymru

09.00 - 09.30 - cyfarfod anffurfiol 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau
(09.30)  

2 Ymchwiliad i'r Grant Gwella Addysg: Plant Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig - sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
(09.30 - 10.20) (Tudalennau 1 - 55) 

Estyn 
Meilyr Rowlands, Prif Arolygydd EM
Claire Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr Strategol
Farrukh Khan, Arolygydd EM

Dogfennau atodol:
Papur Ymchwil
CYPE(5) -13-16 - Papur | Paper 1 - Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Addysg
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 2 - Estyn

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



3 Ymchwiliad i'r Grant Gwella Addysg: Plant Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig - sesiwn dystiolaeth 2
(10.20 - 11.00) (Tudalennau 56 - 72) 

Dr Jonathan Brentnall, Ymgynghorydd Addysg

Dogfennau atodol:
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 3

Egwyl – 11.00 - 11.10 

4 Ymchwiliad i ddarpariaeth eiriolaeth statudol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 
3
(11.10 - 12.00) (Tudalennau 73 - 109) 

Cymdeithas Cyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Cymru a Chymdeithas 
Llywodraeth Leol Cymru

Phil Evans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, Bro Morgannwg
Tanya Evans, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Plant ym Mlaenau Gwent a Chadeirydd 
Penaethiaid Cymru Gyfan o Wasanaethau Plant

Dogfennau atodol:
Papur Ymchwil
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 4 - Cymdeithas Cyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol Cymru a Chymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 5 - Cynllun Gweithredu – Agwedd Genedlaethol 
tuag at Eiriolaeth Statudol



5 Papurau i’w nodi
(12.00)  

Llythyr at y Pwyllgor Busnes ynghylch yr amserlen arfaethedig ar gyfer y Bil 
Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a'r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru)

(Tudalennau 110 - 111) 
Dogfennau atodol:
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 6 - i'w nodi | to note

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod.
(12.00)  

7 Adroddiad Drafft ar yr Ymchwiliad Gwaith Ieuenctid
(12.00 - 12.25) (Tudalennau 112 - 147) 

Dogfennau atodol:
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 7 - preifat | private

8 Blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor - cytuno ar yr ymchwiliad nesaf
(12.25 - 12.45) (Tudalennau 148 - 173) 

Dogfennau atodol:
CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 8 – preifat | private



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru                

  Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref MA-P/KW/7427-16  
 
 
Lynne Neagle AC  

Cadeirydd, Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru  
Bae Caerdydd 

CF99 1NA  
 
SeneddPPIA@cynulliad.cymru   

 
11 Tachwedd 2016 

 
 

 
Anwyl Lynne 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 13 Hydref yn gofyn am wybodaeth i helpu ymchwiliad y 
Pwyllgor i’r Grant Gwella Addysg i Ysgolion, ac yn benodol eich cais am wybodaeth am sut 
mae’r grant o gymorth i gefnogi cyrhaeddiad addysgol plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, a 
phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. Edrychaf ymlaen at ddod i gyfarfod y Pwyllgor ar 12 Ionawr 
2017 i drafod hyn yn fanylach.  
 
Rwyf wedi rhoi gwybodaeth sy’n ateb eich cwestiynau penodol a'ch ceisiadau am 
wybodaeth, ond efallai hefyd y byddai'n ddefnyddiol pe bawn yn rhoi rhywfaint o gefndir a 
chyd-destun sefydlu'r Grant Gwella Addysg i Ysgolion a’n polisi ar gyrhaeddiad dysgwyr o 
leiafrifoedd ethnig a chymunedau Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr yng Nghymru.  
 
Y cefndir a’r cyd-destun 
Cyflwynwyd y Grant Gwella Addysg ym mis Ebrill 2015. Roedd yn disodli 111  o grantiau 
unigol gydag un trefniant sy’n canolbwyntio mwy ar ganlyniadau. Mae’r Grant Gwella 
Addysg yn cyd-fynd â Cymwys am Oes, sef ein strategaeth ar gyfer addysg dysgwyr rhwng 
3 ac 19 oed yng Nghymru. Amcanion cyffredinol y Grant oedd helpu i wella ansawdd 
addysgu a dysgu; cael gwared â’r rhwystrau sy’n atal dysgu a gwella cynhwysiant; gwella’r 
arweinyddiaeth mewn lleoliadau addysgol; a gwella’r ddarpariaeth i ddysgwyr ac ennyn 
diddordeb dysgwyr fwyfwy mewn dysgu.     
 
1 Yr 11 grant ad-drefnwyd i greu’r Grant Gwella Addysg oedd: y Grant Llwybrau Dysgu 14-19; y Grant Effeithiolrwydd 
Ysgolion; Grant Refeniw’r Cyfnod Sylfaen; Grant y Gymraeg mewn Addysg; y Grant Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig; y 
Grant Penodol ar gyfer Addysg Plant Sipsiwn a Theithwyr; y Grant Ymarferwyr Arweiniol a Datblygol; y Grant 
Cynorthwywr Addysgu Lefel Uwch; y Grant Cynefino; y Grant Cymorth Darllen a Rhifedd; y Grant cyllid ychwanegol i 
ysgolion Band 4 a 5.  

 
 
 
 
CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 1

Tudalen y pecyn 27

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


 

 

Roedd nifer o resymau dros ad-drefnu a symleiddio ein trefniadau i roi cyllid grant, a hynny 
yn y maes addysg ac yn ehangach o fewn Llywodraeth Cymru, gan adlewyrchu anghenion 
ein partneriaid. Yn ei adroddiad ar ddarparu gwasanaethau addysg yng Nghymru yn y 
dyfodol, galwodd Robert Hill am fwy o hyblygrwydd ariannol ac am leihau’r baich 
gweinyddol sydd ar ysgolion. Pwysleisiodd adroddiad Comisiwn Williams yr angen i leddfu'r 
pwysau ariannol ar lywodraeth leol drwy beidio â neilltuo cyllid grant penodol a thrwy 
ganolbwyntio ar ganlyniadau yn hytrach na’r gweithgarwch ei hun. Cyn hynny, roedd 
adroddiad PriceWaterhouseCoopers a gwaith dilynol yr Adolygiad o Adnoddau Rheng 
Flaen wedi dangos bod angen cymryd camau i leihau’r costau gweinyddol a’r beichiau 
biwrocrataidd wrth ariannu ysgolion a llywodraeth leol.  
 
Roedd y rhesymau ariannol dros gyflwyno newidiadau yn sylweddol a hynny mewn cyfnod 
pan oedd pwysau mawr a chynyddol ar gyllidebau Llywodraeth Cymru, gan gynnwys y 
cyllidebau addysg, wrth i’r rheini leihau mewn termau real o flwyddyn i flwyddyn. Ar yr un 
pryd, roedd angen rhoi sylw i oblygiadau adroddiad Nuffield ar addysg yng Nghymru; 
amddiffyn ysgolion rhag y newidiadau gwaethaf; ac, yn 2014-15, rheoli effaith gostyngiadau 
yn y gyllideb addysg yn ystod y flwyddyn.    
 
Gan weithio gydag awdurdodau lleol a Chymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru i geisio 
lleihau’r pwysau hwn ar ysgolion a gwasanaethau ysgolion, ymatebodd Llywodraeth Cymru 
drwy ad-drefnu nifer o grantiau unigol, a dyna a arweiniodd at sefydlu’r Grant Gwella 
Addysg. Roedd llywodraeth leol wedi ymrwymo i drosglwyddo mwy o’u cyllid yn 
uniongyrchol i ysgolion, ac ar ôl cyflwyno’r Model Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gweithio’n 
Rhanbarthol, roedd y Grant Gwella Addysg yn fodd o helpu gwasanaethau gwella ysgolion i 
weithio'n rhanbarthol ar draws Cymru.  
 
Ym mis Mawrth 2014, cyhoeddodd Llywodraeth Cymru ddatganiad polisi, Cyflawniad 
Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig mewn Addysg yng Nghymru2 . Roedd y datganiad hwn yn dangos sut y 

byddai’r Llywodraeth yn ceisio galluogi pob plentyn i gyrraedd ei lawn botensial, ynghyd â 
sut yr oedd cyflawniad lleiafrifoedd ethnig yn perthyn i’r fframwaith strategol ehangach ar 
gyfer addysg yng Nghymru.  
 
Ar y pryd, roedd un o bob deg dysgwr yng Nghymru o gefndir lleiafrif ethnig, a thrwy hynny’n 
cyfrannu at yr amrywiaeth ddiwylliannol, gymdeithasol ac ieithyddol gyfoethog sydd gennym 
i’w gwerthfawrogi. Roedd Llywodraeth Cymru wedi ymrwymo i ddatgloi potensial pob 
plentyn. Mae hyn yn dal yn ganolog i bolisïau Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer addysg heddiw. 
Adlewyrchir hyn, er enghraifft, yn fy nghyhoeddiad diweddar y byddaf yn rhoi £4.5 miliwn yn 
ychwanegol yn 2017-18 fel rhan o’r cyllid sylweddol sydd ar gael drwy’r Grant Amddifadedd 
Disgyblion.  
 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn dal i fod wedi ymrwymo i gynorthwyo dysgwyr o bob cefndir i 
lwyddo. Fel y nodwyd yn y datganiad polisi yn 2014, mae’r weledigaeth hon yr un mor wir ar 
gyfer dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd ethnig, sydd o bosibl angen cymorth gyda’r Gymraeg neu’r 
Saesneg, neu ddysgwyr lle mae risg iddynt dangyflawni am resymau eraill. Cyn cyflwyno’r 
Grant Gwella Addysg, er bod cymorth penodol ar gael bryd hynny i'n dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd 
ethnig a chymunedau Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, roedd hyn yng nghyd-destun 
buddsoddiad mwy o lawer mewn gwasanaethau ysgolion yn ehangach. 
 
 
 
 
2Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig mewn Addysg yng Nghymru: 132/2014, Mawrth 2014: 

http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/minority-ethnic-achievement-in-education-in-wales/?lang=cy 

Tudalen y pecyn 28

http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/minority-ethnic-achievement-in-education-in-wales/?lang=cy


 

 

 
 
Dyna hefyd y sefyllfa nawr, a rhaid i’r buddsoddiad hwn gyfrannu at ein gweledigaeth ar 
gyfer pob dysgwr, sef bod ganddynt yr arfau a’r cyfleoedd y mae eu hangen arnynt i gael 
cwricwlwm llawn, i elwa ar hwnnw, ac i gyflawni eu potensial. Nid ydym wedi llwyddo eto ac 
mae llawer o waith o hyd i’w wneud. Dros dymor y Llywodraeth hon, fy mlaenoriaeth yw 
gweithio i sicrhau bod gan ein holl blant a phobl ifanc yr un cyfle i gyrraedd y safonau uchaf.  
 
Rwy’n ymwybodol iawn na fydd hyn yn hawdd. Yn y datganiad polisi yn 2014, cydnabu 
Llywodraeth Cymru rai o'r heriau wrth i adnoddau fynd yn brinnach ac wrth i’r galw am y 
gwasanaethau a fodolai eisoes gynyddu. Yr her oedd sut i barhau i gryfhau capasiti yn ein 
gwasanaethau a’n hystafelloedd dosbarth er mwyn cefnogi dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd ethnig 
wrth iddynt geisio gwireddu eu huchelgeisiau.  
 
Penderfyniad polisi i gyfuno grantiau i’r Grant Gwella Addysg 
1. Manylion am unrhyw asesiad o effaith, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â phlant Sipsiwn, 
Roma a Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig a wneir gan Lywodraeth Cymru cyn y 
penderfyniad i gyfuno'r grantiau i'r Grant Gwella Addysg. 
 
Ym mis Awst 2014, cynhaliodd swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru asesiadau o’r effaith ar 
gydraddoldeb mewn perthynas â’r Grant Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig a’r Grant Penodol 
ar gyfer Addysg Plant Sipsiwn a Theithwyr, a chafodd y rhain eu diweddaru ym mis Ebrill 

2015. Fe’u cyhoeddwyd ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru3 ynghyd ag asesiad effaith pellach a 
gynhaliwyd ym mis Mehefin 2014, ac a ddiweddarwyd ym mis Ebrill 2015, mewn perthynas 
â’r arbedion a oedd i’w gwneud yn y Grant Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig yn 2014-15.   
 
Ynghyd â’r asesiadau effaith penodol hyn, fel rhan o’r broses o bennu’r gyllideb a rhoi 
cyngor i Weinidogion ynghylch sut i reoli unrhyw bwysau ar y gyllideb, ystyrir sut y bydd 
lefelau cyllido yn effeithio ar raglenni a grantiau. Penderfyniadau a wnaed yn nhymor y 
Llywodraeth ddiwethaf oedd y rhai i ad-drefnu’r grantiau a sefydlu'r Grant Gwella Addysg.  
 
2. Manylion am unrhyw opsiynau eraill a ystyriwyd cyn y penderfyniad i gyfuno'r grantiau, 
gan gynnwys p'un a allai unrhyw un o'r grantiau fod wedi parhau fel grantiau ar wahân ai 
peidio.  
 
Adolygwyd y gwariant fesul llinell yn ystod proses y Gyllideb. O ganlyniad, canfuwyd nifer o 
grantiau y gallai’r Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau ar y pryd ystyried eu cynnwys yn y trefniadau 
newydd a fyddai’n arwain at sefydlu’r Grant Gwella Addysg. Deallaf fod y grantiau hynny 
wedi’u dewis yn sgil y ffaith eu bod yn rhannu'r un amcanion a chanlyniadau, neu gan fod 
perthynas rhwng y rheini. Byddai dau grant penodol yn parhau i gael eu rhoi ar wahân, sef 
grant Her Ysgolion Cymru a’r Grant Amddifadedd Disgyblion. Rhaglen ddwy flynedd 
arfaethedig oedd rhaglen Her Ysgolion Cymru, a oedd i ddod i ben yn 2015-16. Sefydlwyd y 
Grant Amddifadedd Disgyblion yn sgil y trefniant rhwng pleidiau Democratiaid Rhyddfrydol 
Cymru a Llafur Cymru, ac oherwydd hynny, penderfynwyd mai priodol oedd cadw trefniadau 
ar wahân ar ei gyfer.   
 
 
3 Asesiadau o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb: 
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-
impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy


 

 

 
O ran y Grant Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig a’r Grant Penodol ar gyfer Addysg Plant 
Sipsiwn a Theithwyr, erbyn 2014-15 roedd y rheini’n sefydlog ac wedi stopio cynyddu. 
Galwodd datganiad polisi Llywodraeth Cymru ym mis Mawrth 2014 am ddulliau mwy 
arloesol o weithio, am weithio mewn partneriaeth, am gysylltiadau agosach gyda 
chynlluniau a gwaith y gwasanaethau gwella ysgolion er mwyn sicrhau bod y gwasanaethau 
yn parhau, ac am geisio sicrhau gwerth ychwanegol o fuddsoddiad y cyllid grant. Cyn 
sefydlu’r Grant Gwella Addysg, ystyriwyd cyfuno'r ddau grant ym mlwyddyn ariannol 2015-
16.   
 
3. Yn ystod rownd cyllideb ddrafft 2015-16, dywedodd y Gweinidog y dylai'r system newydd 
arwain at ddeilliannau gwell i ddysgwyr.  Dylech ddarparu unrhyw dystiolaeth gynnar o hyn, 
yn arbennig mewn perthynas â phlant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr a phlant o leiafrifoedd 
ethnig. 
 
Nod y trefniadau newydd oedd symleiddio systemau, lleihau biwrocratiaeth a chanolbwyntio 
mwy ar sicrhau deilliannau i ddysgwyr. Roedd yn fwriad hefyd gwario llai o adnoddau ar 
weinyddu a rheoli’r grantiau, a chanolbwyntio llai ar gofnodi’r mewnbwn a’r allbwn a’r lefel 
genedlaethol.  
 
Mae’n rhy gynnar i asesu effaith y trefniadau grant newydd ar ddeilliannau addysgol 
dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd ethnig a chymunedau Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, gan mai dim ond 
ers mis Ebrill 2015 y mae’r grant wedi bod ar gael. Bydd angen rhoi amser i’r trefniadau 
fagu gwreiddiau ac rydym yn hyderus eu bod yn dechrau gwneud hynny. Dylai’r 
hyblygrwydd sy’n dod law yn llaw â‘r Grant Gwella Addysg alluogi awdurdodau lleol, y 
consortia ac ysgolion i ddefnyddio’r cyllid i dargedu’r meysydd lle mae’r angen mwyaf.  
 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn casglu data yn genedlaethol ar berfformiad4  dysgwyr o 

leiafrifoedd ethnig. Mae’r data cyfredol sydd wedi’i gyhoeddi yn cynnwys data 2015. 
Byddwn yn cyhoeddi gwybodaeth wedi’i diweddaru ym mis Ionawr ar gyfer 2016 a honno’n 
cynnwys data ar lefel disgyblion yn ôl nodweddion y disgyblion.  
 
Mae perfformiad cyffredinol dysgwyr wedi gwella. Mae canlyniadau TGAU yr haf wedi cael 
eu gwirio'n amodol ac maent yn dangos i Gymru barhau i berfformio’n dda gyda chyfradd 
basio gyffredinol o 66.6 y cant (A* - C). Mae hyn yn gyson a’r ddwy flynedd ddiwethaf a 
dyma’r lefel uchaf a welwyd yng Nghymru. Cafodd dau draean o bob ymgais radd C o leiaf. 
O ran trothwy cynhwysiant Lefel 2, cyrhaeddodd 35.5 y cant o'r disgyblion a oedd â hawl i 
brydau ysgol am ddim y trothwy. Mae’r bwlch yng nghyrhaeddiad disgyblion sydd â hawl i 
brydau ysgol am ddim a'r rheini sydd heb yr hawl honno yn 31.2 pwynt canran ac wedi cau 
unwaith eto, ond yn amlwg nid yw hyn yn ddigon da.  
 
Y broses o ddyrannu arian a mesur gwerth am arian 
 
4. Eglurhad o sut y caiff y Grant ei ddyrannu, gan gynnwys rôl y consortia rhanbarthol, 
awdurdodau lleol ac ysgolion unigol o ran dirprwyo a thargedu cyllid i wella deilliannau 
addysgol ar gyfer plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. 
 
 
 
 
4 Asesiadau o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb: 
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-

impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 30

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/education-improvement-grant-equality-impact-assessments/?skip=1&lang=cy


 

 

 
I’r consortia rhanbarthol y caiff y Grant Gwella Addysg ei roi. Mae gofyn i awdurdodau lleol 
roi elfen o gyllid cyfatebol i gyd-fynd â’r grant, sef tua £11 miliwn fel arfer. Yn unol â’r 
trefniadau llywodraethu y cytunwyd arnynt drwy’r Model Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gweithio'n 
Rhanbarthol, bydd awdurdodau lleol a’r consortia wedyn yn cytuno ar sut y caiff cyllid y 
grant ei ddosrannu ac ar y blaenoriaethau ar gyfer gwariant ar lefel ranbarthol a lleol. 
Gwneir hyn drwy'r cyd-bwyllgorau a'r byrddau ymgynghorol rhanbarthol. Mae gan y 
consortia gynlluniau busnes rhanbarthol y cytunwyd arnynt drwy eu trefniadau llywodraethu, 
ac mae’r rhain yn ystyried cyfanswm y cyllid sydd ar gael iddynt ac i’r ysgolion er mwyn 
helpu i wella'r ysgolion hynny.  
 
Rhaid dirprwyo lleiafswm o 80% o’r Grant Gwella Addysg i ysgolion. Yr uchafswm y ceir ei 
wario ar ei weinyddu a’i reoli yw 1%. Gellir defnyddio’r hyn sy’n weddill mewn sawl ffordd, er 
enghraifft drwy ddirprwyo rhagor i’r ysgolion, drwy roi cyllid wedi'i dargedu i ysgolion, neu i 
dalu am ddarpariaeth ranbarthol a lleol sy’n fuddiol i’r ysgolion. Gall hyn gynnwys 
cynorthwyo’r Gwasanaethau Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig ac Addysg i Deithwyr. Mewn 
rhai ardaloedd, caiff yr arian hwn ei ddirprwyo’n uniongyrchol i’r ysgolion.   
 
Wrth benderfynu ar ddosraniadau’r Grant Gwella Addysg i’r consortia, mae Llywodraeth 
Cymru yn defnyddio methodoleg gyllido sy’n adlewyrchu swm yr hen grantiau a ddyrannwyd 
i’r awdurdodau lleol a’r consortia, ond gan edrych hefyd ar y data diweddaraf sydd wedi’i 
wirio o'r Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar Lefel Disgyblion. Roedd hwn yn benderfyniad 
bwriadol er mwyn pontio’n ddidrafferth wrth gyflwyno’r Grant Gwella Addysg ac er mwyn 
rhoi sefydlogrwydd i awdurdodau lleol, y consortia ac ysgolion. Ystyriwyd diwygio’r dull hwn 
a sefydlu un fethodoleg gyllido, ond er mwyn rhoi sefydlogrwydd, mae’r dull presennol yn 
dal i gael ei ddefnyddio.   
 
Wrth benderfynu sut i ddosrannu’r grant, bydd y consortia yn ystyried eu blaenoriaethau yn 
y rhanbarth ac yn yr awdurdodau lleol unigol. Gan fod anghenion yn amrywio o ranbarth i 
ranbarth ac o fewn y rhanbarthau hynny, mae'r hyblygrwydd sy'n dod law yn llaw â'r Grant 
Gwella Addysg yn bwysig wrth gynorthwyo ysgolion, y consortia ac awdurdodau lleol i 
gyflawni’r hyn y bwriedir i’r grant ei gyflawni, a hynny’n unol â’u blaenoriaethau lleol a 
rhanbarthol.  
 
Er enghraifft, yn ardal Gwasanaeth Cyrhaeddiad Addysg De-ddwyrain Cymru, mae 
Gwasanaeth Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig Gwent wedi bod yn gweithio ar ran yr holl awdurdodau 
lleol yn hen ardal Gwent ers nifer o flynyddoedd. Mae’n rhannu platfform â’r consortiwm ac 
wrth symud i’r Grant Gwella Addysg, penderfynodd y pum Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Rheolwr-
Gyfarwyddwr y consortiwm ar y cyd i ddiogelu a pharhau i roi cymorth i’r Gwasanaethau 
Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig ac Addysg i Deithwyr.  
 
Fel yn achos y Grant Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig o’r blaen, mae modd i awdurdodau 
lleol ddirprwyo cyllid y Grant Gwella Addysg i gyllidebau ysgolion er mwyn galluogi ysgolion 
i flaenoriaethu pa fath o gymorth y mae ei angen ar eu dysgwyr. Ar wahân i awdurdodau'r 
de-ddwyrain sy’n gweithio'n rhanbarthol, ar draws Cymru caiff cyllid y Grant Gwella Addysg 
ar y cyfan ei drosglwyddo i awdurdodau lleol i reoli eu Gwasanaethau Cyflawniad 
Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig ac Addysg i Deithwyr. Mae hyn yn adlewyrchu’r trefniadau blaenorol ar 
gyfer y ddau grant penodol lle’r arferai Llywodraeth Cymru roi cyllid yn uniongyrchol i’r 
awdurdodau lleol unigol. 
 
Mae cyfanswm y buddsoddiad sydd ar gael i gynorthwyo dysgwyr lle mae risg iddynt 
dangyflawni, gan gynnwys dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd ethnig a grwpiau Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr, yn sylweddol pan ystyrir yr holl ffynonellau cyllid sydd ar gael. Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys y cymorth ar gyfer y Gymraeg a'r Saesneg fel ieithoedd ychwanegol, y 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



 

 

buddsoddiad drwy'r Grant Amddifadedd Disgyblion, cyllid y Grant Gwella Addysg ac yn 
bwysicach na dim, cyllid craidd yr ysgolion.   
 
5. Swm y Grant a ddyrannwyd i bob consortiwm rhanbarthol ac awdurdod lleol yn 2015-16, 
ac a wariwyd ganddynt wedi hynny, yn ogystal â'r dyraniadau ar gyfer 2016-17.  Dylech 
ddarparu dadansoddiad o'r wybodaeth hon er mwyn dangos y symiau a ddyrannwyd i 
ymyriadau penodol er mwyn gwella deilliannau addysgol ar gyfer plant Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. 
 
Dyma ddyraniadau'r Grant Gwella Addysg i’r rhanbarthau:  
 
       2015-16                       2016-17 
CSC     £43,461,472  £41,358,670 
ERW     £39,978,422  £38,078,607 
GwE     £30,919,693  £29,398,348 
EAS       £26,661,413  £25,446,375 
Cyfanswm£141,021,000  £134,282,000 
 
Y prif resymau dros gyflwyno’r trefniadau newydd oedd symleiddio systemau a 
chanolbwyntio mwy ar ddeilliannau yn hytrach na’r mewnbwn a’r allbwn, a lleihau cost 
gweinyddu a rheoli'r grant er mwyn sicrhau bod y cyllid yn cael ei wario'n bennaf ar gyflawni 
ac ar sicrhau gwell deilliannau i ddysgwyr.  
 
Grant newydd yw’r Grant Gwella Addysg ac mae’n rhaid iddo barhau i gynorthwyo’n 
hysgolion wrth i’w hanghenion newid. Mae hyn yn bwysig wrth inni symud tuag at 
drefniadau cwricwlwm ac asesu unigryw i Gymru. Ar y cyd â llywodraeth leol, penderfynodd 
Llywodraeth Cymru gael gwared ar y gofyniad i gadw golwg ar wariant grant fesul themâu’r 
11 grant blaenorol. Tybiwyd bod hwn yn gyfle da i leihau costau ysgolion, awdurdod lleol a’r 
consortia, ac mae'n adlewyrchu'r pwyslais ar ddeilliannau, yn hytrach nag edrych ar 
weithgarwch ar lefel genedlaethol.  
 
Felly, ar lefel genedlaethol, nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn casglu data sy'n dangos faint o'r 
Grant Gwella Addysg a gaiff ei wario ar feysydd neu themâu penodol, gan gynnwys 
rhaglenni a dulliau ymyrryd penodol. Efallai y bydd modd cael y wybodaeth hon gan y 
consortia rhanbarthol a’r awdurdodau lleol.  
 
6. Gwybodaeth am drefniadau Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer monitro gwariant y Grant mewn 
perthynas â phlant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. 
 
Fel y nodwyd, nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn monitro faint o’r Grant Gwella Addysg sy’n cael 
ei wario ar wasanaethau sy’n cynorthwyo grwpiau o ddysgwyr sydd â risg o dangyflawni. 
Mae hyblygrwydd trefniadau’r Grant Gwella Addysg yn galluogi awdurdodau lleol, y 
consortia ac ysgolion i flaenoriaethu eu cyllid yn y meysydd lle mae'r angen mwyaf. Ar lefel 
ysgolion, amcangyfrifwn y byddai’n costio tipyn i gael system i gadw golwg ar y gwariant 
sy’n cynorthwyo cyflawniad addysgol grwpiau unigol o ddysgwyr, yn enwedig ac ystyried y 
gallai'r grwpiau hyn o ddysgwyr fod yn cael cymorth o ffynonellau cyllid eraill, gan gynnwys 
y Grant Amddifadedd Disgyblion. Fel egwyddor, rydym wedi ceisio lleihau costau 
gweinyddol y grant a chanolbwyntio mwy ar ddeilliannau.  
 
7. Dylech ddarparu manylion am unrhyw arbedion cost gwirioneddol a disgwyliedig sydd 
wedi codi o'r newid polisi hwn.  
 
Lleihaodd y Grant Gwella Addysg tua 9% wrth drosglwyddo o’r 11 grant blaenorol, a 
lleihaodd 4.7% ymhellach yn 2016-17. Ar yr un pryd, mae costau rheoli a gweinyddu'r grant 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



 

 

wedi gostwng hefyd. Yn 2014-15, gosodwyd uchafswm o rhwng 3% a 5% ar gyfer gwariant 
gweinyddol ambell un o’r 11 grant blaenorol. Pennodd Llywodraeth Cymru mai uchafswm y 
gwariant a fyddai’n cael ei ganiatáu ar gyfer gweinyddu’r Grant Gwella Addysg fyddai 1.5% 
yn 2015-16. Gostyngodd hyn i 1% yn 2016-17. Mae'r gostyngiadau yng nghostau systemau 
wedi galluogi’r consortia, llywodraeth leol ac ysgolion i wneud mwy arbedion a chael mwy o 
werth o'r cyllid grant, a hynny'n gwneud iawn, i raddau o leiaf, am y gostyngiadau yng 
nghyfanswm y grant yn y blynyddoedd blaenorol.  
 
8. Gwybodaeth am unrhyw fuddion ariannol eraill sydd wedi codi o ganlyniad i'r newid polisi 
hwn.  
 
Ar bob lefel, yn yr ysgolion, yr awdurdodau lleol, y consortia a Llywodraeth Cymru, rydym yn 
amcangyfrif y bydd modd arbed rhagor o adnoddau drwy arbed amser. Drwy gwtogi ar y 
trefniadau gweinyddol, ynghyd â’r gofyniad i ddefnyddio’r cynlluniau datblygu ysgol sydd 
bellach yn statudol, yn hytrach na’r cynlluniau grant unigol, amcangyfrifir bod llawer o amser 
yn cael ei arbed, yn enwedig ar lefel yr ysgolion.  
 
Mae angen cydbwysedd wrth sicrhau atebolrwydd drwy’r system. Wrth brif ffrydio 
anghenion y grwpiau hyn o ddysgwyr a’u galluogi i gael cymorth yn rhwyddach, mae'n 
bwysig ystyried y rhesymau dros wneud hynny yng nghyd-destun y gwasanaethau gwella 
ysgolion ehangach.  
 
Yn Ysgol Uwchradd Llyswrei yng Nghasnewydd, er enghraifft, rydym wedi gweld yr ysgol yn 
meithrin dull aml-haen o ddefnyddio cyllid grant ar gyfer gwella’r ysgol, a hynny er mwyn 
ymyrryd yn effeithiol i gynorthwyo pob dysgwr.  
 
O ran y cymorth y mae’r consortia yn ei roi i ysgolion, dylai defnyddio’r cynllun datblygu 
ysgol yn unig wrth gynllunio helpu ymgynghorwyr her i weld anghenion yr holl ysgol yn eu 
cyd-destun, gan allu herio a chefnogi ysgolion yn well o’r gwaith cynllunio i’r broses o 
gyflawni.     
 
Gwerthuso 
9. Unrhyw dystiolaeth sy'n dangos bod cyfuno'r grant wedi arwain at ddeilliannau addysgol 
gwell ar gyfer plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. 
 
Fel y nodais eisoes, mae’n rhy gynnar i asesu effaith y trefniadau grant newydd ar 
ddeilliannau addysgol dysgwyr o leiafrifoedd ethnig a chymunedau Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr, gan mai dim ond ers mis Ebrill 2015 y mae’r grant wedi bod ar gael.  
 
10. Manylion am y telerau ac amodau sydd ynghlwm wrth ddefnydd y consortia rhanbarthol 
a'r awdurdodau lleol o'r Grant, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â phlant Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig. 
 
O dan delerau ac amodau’r Grant Gwella Addysg, rhaid i'r consortia wella deilliannau 
addysgol pob dysgwr ym mhob lleoliad, gan gynnwys y rheini mewn grwpiau sy’n agored i 
niwed ac sy’n fwy tebygol o dangyflawni.  
Mae’r Grant Gwella Addysg yn help i roi amcanion strategol Cymwys am Oes ar waith, sef 
gweledigaeth hirdymor Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer addysg dysgwyr 3-19 oed yng 
Nghymru. 
 
Mae telerau ac amodau’r grant yn nodi bod yn rhaid defnyddio’r arian i gyfrannu at 
gyflawni’r gofynion cyffredinol hyn: 
Gwella addysgu a dysgu; 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



 

 

Gwella deilliannau addysgol, gan gynnwys llythrennedd a rhifedd, yn y Cyfnod Sylfaen, 
Cyfnod Allweddol 2, Cyfnod Allweddol 3 a Chyfnod Allweddol 4, a hynny ar gyfer pob 
dysgwr ym mhob lleoliad. Mae hyn yn cynnwys, er enghraifft, grwpiau dysgu lle mae’n 
hysbys bod risg iddynt dangyflawni. Rhai enghreifftiau o hyn fyddai dysgwyr o ryw benodol, 
y rheini ag Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol neu â Saesneg a/neu Gymraeg fel iaith 
ychwanegol, neu ddysgwyr o grwpiau lleiafrifoedd ethnig penodol fel Sipsiwn, Roma a 
Theithwyr; a 
Gwella deilliannau disgyblion sy’n cael Prydau Ysgol am Ddim a chau’r bwlch rhwng y rheini 
sydd â hawl ac heb hawl i hynny.  
 
Mae Cymwys am Oes wrthi’n cael ei adnewyddu a bydd telerau ac amodau y Grant Gwella 
Addysg yn y dyfodol yn adlewyrchu hyn.  
 
Yn ogystal â thelerau ac amodau cyffredinol grantiau sy’n cael eu rhoi gan Weinidogion 
Cymru, mae gofynion hefyd ynghylch lefel y swm sy’n cael ei ddirprwyo i ysgolion, lefel y 
gwariant a ganiateir ar weinyddu a rheoli’r grant, y defnydd o Gynlluniau Datblygu Ysgol, a’r 
gofyniad i weithio tuag at gymarebau'r Cyfnod Sylfaen.  
 
11. Manylion am y canlyniad a'r dull o fesur y deilliannau plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr a 
phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig ar gyfer 2015-16 a 2016-17. 
 
Fel y nodwyd yn yr adrannau uchod, diben y cyllid hwn yw helpu'r consortia a'r awdurdodau 
sy'n gyfrifol ym mhob consortiwm i wella deilliannau addysgol pob dysgwr. Mae’r Grant 
Gwella Addysg yn gymorth i gyflawni'n blaenoriaethau cenedlaethol ar gyfer ysgolion, gan 
gynnwys gwell deilliannau mewn llythrennedd a rhifedd a lleihau effaith amddifadedd ar 
ddeilliannau addysgol. I gyd-fynd â’r deilliannau hyn, ceir amryw o ddangosyddion 
perfformiad allweddol, ac mae'r consortia yn amlinellu sut y maent yn bwriadu gwella 
ysgolion yn eu cynlluniau busnes rhanbarthol. At hynny, mae Fframwaith Perfformiad 
Addysg yn cael ei dreialu eleni. Mae’r Fframwaith yn gofyn i’r consortia, yng nghyd-destun 
yr amcanion cyffredinol y cyfeiriwyd atynt ym mhwynt 10, nodi'r prif ddangosyddion 
perfformiad allweddol a fydd yn cyd-fynd â'r deilliannau hyn, ac i bennu amserlenni a cherrig 
milltir pwysig i'w cyflawni. Mae cysylltiad rhwng y rhain â chynlluniau busnes llawn y 
consortia. Yn y dyfodol, dylent geisio nodi’n well sut y mae’r Grant Gwella Addysg yn 
cyfrannu at bethau sydd y tu hwnt i waith gwella ysgolion craidd y consortia a’r ysgolion. 
 
Rwy’n awyddus i weld cysylltiad uniongyrchol rhwng amcanion Cymwys am Oes, a’i 
ddogfennau cysylltiedig, a chynlluniau busnes y consortia a Chynlluniau Datblygu Ysgol. 
Drwy wneud hyn bydd modd dangos bod yr arian grant yn cael ei wario yn y ffordd fwyaf 
effeithiol yn unol â’r blaenoriaethau rydym yn eu rhannu. Dylai’r gwaith sy’n cael ei wneud 
yn sgil y grant fod yn gynaliadwy ac yn unol ag amcanion Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r 
Dyfodol. 
 
12. Manylion am y trefniadau monitro ar gyfer cadw at delerau ac amodau'r Grant, yn 
enwedig y deilliannau a'r dull o fesur y canlyniad, a'r sancsiynau sydd ar gael i Lywodraeth 
Cymru os na chânt eu bodloni.   
 
Mae’r grant yn canolbwyntio ar ddeilliannau. Bydd ymgynghorwyr her y consortia yn 
monitro’n rheolaidd y gweithgarwch a’r camau ymyrryd y mae’r grant yn eu hariannu, 
ynghyd â’r dulliau o fesur y deilliannau. Cynhelir adolygiadau a chyfarfodydd her bob tymor, 
sydd hefyd yn cael eu defnyddio i fonitro perfformiad a deilliannau.   
 
Bydd y consortia yn cyhoeddi adroddiad ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn sy’n cynnwys manylion am y 
cynnydd a wnaed yn ystod cyfnod y grant, ynghyd â gwerthusiad cyffredinol o’r rhaglen ac 
astudiaethau achos lle mae hynny’n briodol.   

Tudalen y pecyn 34



 

 

 
Mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru, y consortia ac awdurdodau lleol nifer o grwpiau rhanddeiliaid a 
dulliau eraill o gynnal eu perthynas, gan gynnwys cyfarfodydd rheolaidd drwy CCAC a 
chyswllt ag arweinwyr pwnc y consortia. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn rhoi gwasanaeth 
ysgrifenyddiaeth i Grŵp Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig Awdurdodau Lleol a’r Fforwm 
Sipsiwn-Teithwyr.  
 
Mae gwaith yn cael ei wneud ar lefel leol a rhanbarthol i graffu, monitro a rhoi sicrwydd, a 
hynny drwy'r trefniadau llywodraethu y cytunwyd arnynt yn y Model Cenedlaethol ar gyfer 
Gweithio’n Rhanbarthol. Mae’r consortia hefyd yn llunio adroddiadau hunanwerthuso ac yn 
diweddaru eu cynlluniau busnes fel rhan o'u strwythurau llywodraethu ac atebolrwydd 
rhanbarthol.  
 
Mae gan Estyn gyfraniad i’w wneud drwy arolygu ysgolion a gwaith awdurdodau lleol, a 
hefyd gan fod y consortia’n rhan o’u cylch gwaith. Ynghyd â’r data cenedlaethol y mae 
Llywodraeth Cymru yn ei gasglu am berfformiad, ceir gwybodaeth helaeth sy’n cyfrannu at 
ddeall effaith arian grant Llywodraeth Cymru, gan gynnwys y Grant Gwella Addysg.  
 
O dan y telerau a’r amodau, gall swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru ofyn am unrhyw 
wybodaeth resymol yn ôl y galw os bydd angen gwybod unrhyw beth penodol nad oes 
modd ei ganfod drwy’r perthnasau a'r dulliau a nodwyd uchod.  
 
Er bod y grant yn rhoi hyblygrwydd sylweddol, mae angen gwneud gwaith archwilio ar lefel 
yr awdurdod lleol er mwyn canfod unrhyw wariant annerbyniol, a gall Llywodraeth Cymru 
wedyn hawlio hwnnw’n ôl. Wrth gwrs, gall Llywodraeth Cymru benderfynu cael gwared ar y 
grant os nad yw’r cyllid yn cyflawni’r nod, ac mae’n bwysig nodi y dylai’r cyllid grant fod yn 
rhywbeth ychwanegol. Dyletswydd awdurdodau lleol yw rhoi addysg addas i’w holl 
ddysgwyr, a thrwy’r Setliad Llywodraeth Leol y caiff hyn ei ariannu'n bennaf.  
 
13.  Mae dogfen wybodaeth Llywodraeth Cymru, "Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig mewn 
addysg yng Nghymru" yn dweud y bydd yn “galw gwasanaethau i gyfrif o ran sicrhau 
canlyniadau gwell i ddysgwyr”.  Dylech ddarparu gwybodaeth am ba wasanaethau a gaiff 
eu dwyn i gyfrif a sut.  
 
O dan delerau’r grantiau blaenorol, cyflwynodd y Gwasanaethau Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd 
Ethnig ac Addysg i Deithwyr adroddiadau i Lywodraeth Cymru am y cymorth a oedd yn cael 
ei roi drwy’r grantiau. O dan y strwythurau i wella ysgolion drwy’r Model Cenedlaethol ar 
gyfer Gweithio’n Rhanbarthol a’r Grant Gwella Ysgolion, mae angen bod yn atebol ac 
adrodd i‘r awdurdodau lleol a'r consortia. Mae Estyn a Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru wedyn yn 
sicrhau bod yr awdurdodau lleol a’r consortia yn atebol, a hynny drwy ddulliau sydd wedi’u 
sefydlu ar y cyd â Llywodraeth Cymru, gan gynnwys ein prosesau Herio ac Adolygu, y data 
a gasglwn ac a gyhoeddwn am berfformiad, a’n perthynas â CCAC sy’n cynrychioli'r 
Gwasanaethau Cyflawniad Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig ac Addysg i Deithwyr.  
 
14. Gwybodaeth am ymyriadau penodol lle defnyddiwyd y Grant i wella deilliannau 
addysgol ar gyfer plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig ar gyfer 
2015-16.  Dylech hefyd ddarparu gwybodaeth am sut y mae effaith ymyriadau o'r fath yn 
cael ei fonitro.  
 
Mae’r dull rhanbarthol o drefnu’r gwasanaeth sydd gan awdurdodau lleol y de-ddwyrain 
drwy Wasanaeth Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig Gwent yn enghraifft gadarnhaol o gydweithio er mwyn 
sicrhau bod anghenion y grwpiau hyn o ddysgwyr yn cael sylw. Mae’r consortia yn ceisio 
canfod a rhannu’r arferion gorau drwy eu rhwydweithiau ysgolion, a chaiff gwybodaeth ei 
rhoi’n gynyddol ar-lein.  

Tudalen y pecyn 35



 

 

 
Yn 2015, cyhoeddodd Estyn astudiaeth achos o’r gwaith gwych sy'n cael ei wneud yn ysgol 

gynradd Llyswrei5 i wella cyflawniad addysgol grwpiau o ddysgwyr sy’n agored i niwed. Mae 
ysgol uwchradd Llyswrei hefyd wedi llwyddo â'i darpariaeth Saesneg fel Iaith Ychwanegol 
ac wrth ymwneud â'r gymuned, ac yn benodol y gymuned Roma. Deallaf fod dysgwyr Roma 
yn yr ysgol wedi cael llwyddiant ar Lefel 2 am y tro cyntaf eleni, ac mae'r cyfraddau 
presenoldeb wedi gwella'n arw.  
 
Mae gan Wasanaeth Addysg Sipsiwn-Teithwyr Sir Benfro, sydd wedi’i leoli yn Ysgol 
Gynradd Gymunedol Monkton Priory, 30% o ddysgwyr o'r gymuned Sipsiwn a Theithwyr. 
Mae dros 50% o’r dysgwyr sydd o gymunedau Sipsiwn a Theithwyr yn Sir Benfro wedi’u 
cofrestru yn yr ysgol.  
 
Dywedodd arolygiad Estyn o’r ysgol ym mis Ebrill 2016: 
The school is a beacon for lifelong learning in the community. For example, the partnership 
work that has enabled parents, staff and other members of the community to develop new 
skills and qualifications at the school is a significant strength. Through this work, the school 
has been innovative in establishing outstanding links with the Gypsy and Traveller 
community. The wide range of courses, including basic skills courses for parents, GCSE 
and a degree course offered at the school has brought the community into the school. This 
has ensured a vibrant learning environment that provides high aspirations for all and has 
provided parents and carers with the skills to help their children. (Saesneg yn unig) 
Mae tri o bobl a arferai fod yn ddysgwyr o'r gymuned Sipsiwn a Theithwyr bellach yn 
gweithio fel Cynorthwywyr Cymorth Dysgu yn Sir Benfro ac wedi cael graddau BA mewn 
Cynhwysiant Cymdeithasol a Pholisi Cymdeithasol. 
 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru hefyd wedi gweithio gyda’r ymgyrch Dangos y Cerdyn Coch i 
Hiliaeth, gan ddatblygu pecyn dwyieithog sy’n rhoi gwybodaeth a gweithgareddau i helpu 
dysgwyr o gymunedau Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr i ymgynefino yn yr ysgol. Datblygwyd y 
pecyn hwn ar ôl ymgynghori ag aelodau’r gymuned Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, ac mae ar 
gael ar rwydwaith Hwb. Y nod yw cael gwared ar rwystrau, hybu dealltwriaeth, a chreu 
profiad yn yr ysgol sy’n groesawgar a chynhwysol. Mae’r pecyn yn cyd-fynd â Teithio gyda'n 
gilydd – cyfres o adnoddau a gyhoeddwyd ar wefan Dysgu Cymru yn 2014 er mwyn 
hyrwyddo’r gwaith o integreiddio diwylliant Sipsiwn a Theithwyr yn y cwricwlwm 
cenedlaethol.  
 
Rwy’n gobeithio bod y wybodaeth a roddwyd yn ddefnyddiol i ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor ac 
edrychaf ymlaen at drafod y materion hyn â’r Pwyllgor ym mis Ionawr.  
 
 
Yn gywir 

 
 
 
Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 
 
5Astudiaeth achos Estyn – Ysgol Gynradd Llyswrei: https://www.estyn.llyw.cymru/best-practice/cefnogi-dysgwyr-dan-
anfantais-yn-llwyddiannus-yn-helpu-i-hybu-cyflawniad?_ga=1.194976109.1192853083.1475046894 t 

 Tudalen y pecyn 36



1

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and 
Education Committee
CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 2
Ymateb gan : Estyn
Response from : Estyn

How the Welsh Government monitors the way local authorities use the 
Education Improvement Grant and how the new, amalgamated grant 
supports Gypsy, Roma and Traveller, and Minority Ethnic children, with 
specific reference to improving educational outcomes

This section explains how Estyn contributes to the monitoring of educational 
outcomes and provision for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller, and Minority Ethnic 
children. For details of Estyn’s national thematic work and best practice 
work, see answers to the next two questions.

As part of Estyn’s inspection of individual providers and local authorities, 
inspectors consider the performance of different groups of learners 
including minority ethnic groups, and gypsies and travellers. Inspectors 
judge how well a provider establishes an ethos that is inclusive as well as 
other equality and diversity issues. Inspectors also judge how well the 
provider promotes the prevention and elimination of oppressive behaviour 
including racism. For more details, see for example Estyn’s handbook for 
secondary school inspections, which is available here:

http://www.estyn.gov.wales/document/guidance-inspection-secondary-
schools

Estyn also has supplementary guidance for inspecting Equality, human rights 
and English as an additional language, available here.

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Supplementary
%20guidance%20%E2%80%93%20equality_0.pdf 

As part of the above, inspectors report on how well an individual provider 
has supported Gypsy, Roma and Traveller and Minority Ethnic children in 
improving educational outcomes using different funding streams including 
the Education Improvement Grant and the Pupil Deprivation Grant. Estyn has 
not evaluated how local authorities use the Education Improvement Grant 

Tudalen y pecyn 37

http://www.estyn.gov.wales/document/guidance-inspection-secondary-schools
http://www.estyn.gov.wales/document/guidance-inspection-secondary-schools
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Supplementary%20guidance%20%E2%80%93%20equality_0.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Supplementary%20guidance%20%E2%80%93%20equality_0.pdf


2

specifically and without detailed work it is difficult to differentiate between 
the different funding streams. Some of the good practice identified below 
and the recommendations of Estyn reports such as ‘The education of Gypsy 
Traveller pupils: An update on provision in secondary schools’ do not 
necessarily require additional funding to implement. 

The following are extracts from a selection of inspection reports of individual 
providers that give a flavour of this reporting. Good practice is identified and 
areas of improvement noted. The extracts from the school inspection reports 
are from reports published since the grants were amalgamated in April 
2015. The extracts from local authority reports are from inspections since 
2011. 

Blaenau Gwent LAESCYP Inspection January 2013

In the Foundation Phase, key stage 3 and key stage 4, minority ethnic pupils 
generally perform better than their cohort groups. Gypsy and Traveller pupils 
and looked-after children generally perform less well than the cohort group.  

Torfaen LAESCYP Inspection, October 2011

Support for parents of pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorder and for parents 
from the Gypsy and Traveller community is particularly effective. However, 
the authority does not do enough to ensure that all parents are aware of the 
range of support and advice available to them.  

West Monmouth School, Torfaen March 2016
In partnership with the Torfaen Equal Project, the school provides 
exceptional support for Gypsy Traveller pupils and their parents.  This is 
having a very positive impact on the attendance and outcomes for pupils 
from this community.  This is a very strong feature of the work of the 
school.  

Flintshire County Council, October 2011

Tudalen y pecyn 38



3

The authority provides effective support to Gypsy and Traveller learners that 
has improved their literacy levels and helps them achieve good attendance.  
All Gypsy and Traveller primary-age pupils attend primary school.

Queens Ferry School, Flintshire September 2015
Many pupils for whom English is an additional language, and those 
from the community of Gypsy Travellers, make very good progress 
from their starting-points.  Staff work closely with specialist services, 
such as the Gypsy Traveller service, speech and language support and 
the service for pupils with English as an additional language.  This 
work has a positive impact on pupils' achievements.  

Coleg Cambria, Flintshire, Wrexham and Denbighshire November 2015
Learners from the most deprived areas of the three local authorities, 
those with a declared disability and learners from ethnic minority 
backgrounds achieve in their learning at a rate equal to, or greater 
than, their peers.

Pembrokeshire County Council, June 2011

Gypsy traveller children improve their literacy skills and many make good 
progress into work.  

Monkton Priory Community School, Pembrokeshire April 2016
Monkton Priory Community Primary School is a 'window on the world' 
for its pupils and the heart of a learning community based on equality, 
respect and doing your best.  Thirty percent of pupils are from the 
gypsy traveller community.  There is a permanent traveller site in 
Monkton and the school has an attached unit for traveller pupils aged 
11-16 years old. The school has strived to create a stimulating 
learning environment that engages all learners.  Leaders ensure that 
they place all staff in settings that match their skills.  All staff are 
committed to supporting pupils’ wellbeing and providing a learning 
community based on equality, respect and doing one’s best.

Stepaside School, Pembrokeshire April 2016

Tudalen y pecyn 39



4

The school focuses well on promoting good attendance. Over the last 
year or so, the school has been very successful in engaging the 
traveller community and ensuring that traveller children attend school 
regularly.

Conwy County Borough Council, March 2011
Specialist services provide good support for Gypsy Traveller children and 
those who have English as an additional language (EAL). This has impacted 
on improvements in attainment and attendance of the supported pupils.

Carmarthenshire County Council, March 2012

At key stage 4 the performance of looked after children and learners from 
traveller families is good. The authority offers a wide range of provision 
outside of schools for pupils at key stage 4. This helps vulnerable learners, 
such as looked after children, young people at risk of dropping out of 
education and children from traveller families to achieve good outcomes by 
the end of their school careers.

St Mary’s R.C. primary school, Carmarthen October 2015
The school works well with several specialist agencies such as the 
police, health and social services. Liaison with the ethnic minority 
advisory service is particularly effective and enables the majority of 
pupils to make suitable progress in acquiring English as a second 
language.  The school works effectively in partnership with a wide 
range of agencies, such as the ethnic minority advisory service, health 
and social services, to support all pupils’ learning and wellbeing.

Wrexham County Council

Effective strategies to support Gypsy Traveller pupils

St. Joseph’s Catholic and Anglican High School, Wrexham have 
developed effective strategies to support Gypsy Traveller pupils such 
as engagement with pupils and parents and working with the local 
youth service and the traveller education service teacher. Pupils are 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



5

more confident, exclusion rates have fallen and participation in extra-
curricular activities has increased

Newport City Council, November 2011

Attendance rates for most vulnerable groups such as looked after children 
and minority ethnic learners are good.

Ringland Primary School, Newport June 2015
Many pupils benefit from the school’s partnerships with a wide range 
of specialist agencies, such as the local authority’s learning and 
behaviour support service and its ethnic minority support service.

Pillgwenlly C.P. School, Newport June 2015
The school works successfully with a broad and effective range of 
specialist agencies to support pupils well. For example, its close 
collaboration with the Gwent ethnic minority service has a positive 
impact on the progress specific pupils make in their acquisition of the 
English language. This in turn allows them to integrate effectively into 
the school community.  

Maindee C.P. School, Newport March 2016
The headteacher’s leadership is highly effective in setting and 
promoting a vision for the school. She has responded very effectively 
to recent changes in the school’s population resulting from a 
significant increase in pupils of Roma heritage. In a short period, she 
has put in place a series of pioneering arrangements that are proving 
highly successful in meeting the very diverse needs of pupils who 
often have had little or no previous experience of education.  

The school makes very good use of the pupils’ diverse cultural 
heritage to ensure they have a good understanding of the need to 
respect one another. The school promotes pupils’ attendance 
rigorously. For example, the Family Engagement teacher who works 
with ethnic minority groups has established close relationships with 
families to emphasise the educational and social importance of regular 
attendance.  

Tudalen y pecyn 41



6

The outstanding collaborative working arrangements between the 
school, the ethnic minority service and other outside agencies, 
including the speech and language therapy service, ensure that all 
identified pupils make at least good and often very good progress, 
especially in their acquisition of English.

The school has highly effective practices in the integration of newly 
arrived pupils with no English into the school and this has had a very 
positive impact on pupil wellbeing and progress. The close working 
with local authority ethnic minority service provides excellent support 
for all pupils and their families, enabling them to access all areas of 
the curriculum as well as supporting one another in learning.  

The school has highly effective partnerships with the local authority, 
particularly in relation to the support from specialist services. A 
notable feature is the close partnership working with the ethnic 
minority education service.  

Cardiff City Council, January 2011

The performance of minority ethnic learners is improving and the gap in 
performance between them and white UK learners is narrowing. The 
percentage of ethnic minority learners achieving the level 2 threshold 
(equivalent to 5 GCSEs at grade A* to C) has increased and the gap in 
attainment between them and white UK learners has reduced considerably. 
The authority’s Ethnic Minority Achievement Service provides good support 
to learners whose first language is not English or Welsh.

St Mary's R.C. Primary School, Cardiff September 2015
Pupils from an ethnic minority background and those who have English 
as an additional language make good progress by the end of the 
Foundation Phase, and most perform at the expected level or above by 
the end of key stage 2.  
There are good links with a range of specialist agencies, and support 
services such as the sensory impairment, speech and language therapy 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



7

service and the ethnic minority achievement service support pupils’ 
specific needs well.  

Greenway Primary School, Cardiff July 2016
The school's current performance is good because most pupils make 
expected or better progress as they move through the school, including 
those with English as an additional language.   Pupils from Gypsy Traveller 
families who attend well make good progress. 

The school's partnership with Gypsy Traveller families is excellent and has a 
positive impact on their children's attendance and achievement.  

Swansea City Council

Plasmarl Primary School, Swansea October 2015
The school has good links with a range of outside agencies. For 
example, staff work closely with the educational psychologist and 
ethnic minority language acquisition service to support pupils’ 
particular needs.  

St Helen's Primary School, Swansea February 2016
All staff support pupils with English as an additional language 
exceptionally well. The highly effective arrangements between the 
school and the Ethnic Minority and Achievement Unit ensure that all 
identified pupils make at least good but often excellent progress, 
especially in their oracy and writing skills

The effectiveness of other Welsh Government policies and strategies for 
supporting the education of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller, and Minority Ethnic 
children

In addition to the inspection of individual providers, Estyn publishes 
thematic reports requested by the Minister in annual ‘remit’ letter to Estyn. 
In recent years, Estyn has published several reports relating to the education 
of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller, and Minority Ethnic learners. 
In 2011, Estyn published a thematic report on ‘The education of Gypsy 
Traveller pupils: An update on provision in secondary schools’ 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



8

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/The%20educati
on%20of%20Gypsy%20Traveller%20pupils%3A%20%20An%20update%20on%20
provision%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20June%202011.pdf

The report updated the 2005 Estyn report, ‘The Education of Gypsy Traveller 
Learners’.  Only modest progress had been made between 2005 and 2011. 
Estyn recently completed inspections of all four Regional Consortia in Wales 
and in each case was critical of the consortium’s ability to use pupil-level 
data to identify strengths and areas for improvement, in particular for 
groups of vulnerable pupils. 

The report’s main findings are outlined below:
 
1. Despite the best efforts of a few local authorities and secondary schools, 

much remains to be done to ensure improved outcomes for Gypsy 
Traveller pupils. Only one of the five recommendations made in the 2005 
Estyn report on ‘The Education of Gypsy Traveller Learners’ has been 
addressed.

2. The most important factors in improving Gypsy Traveller pupils’ 
outcomes are improving pupils’ attendance and their attitudes towards 
school. Improving low attendance rates and the resulting low achievement 
of Gypsy Traveller pupils is a challenge for traveller education staff as it 
involves changing well-established attitudes in the Gypsy Traveller 
community and in secondary schools.  

3. The Welsh Assembly Government’s All-Wales Co-ordinators Group for 
Gypsy and Traveller Education was set up to enable staff to discuss 
common issues and share best practice across the 22 Welsh local 
authorities. There is now a forum for sharing best practice in Gypsy 
Traveller education. However, as yet, the work of this group has not 
impacted widely on policy and practice in many secondary schools.  

4. Provision for Gypsy Traveller pupils varies across authorities. Most local 
authorities provide only mainstream secondary education placements, but 
in a few authorities Gypsy Traveller pupils are inappropriately taught in 
separate discrete units for their entire secondary education.  

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/The%20education%20of%20Gypsy%20Traveller%20pupils%3A%20%20An%20update%20on%20provision%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20June%202011.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/The%20education%20of%20Gypsy%20Traveller%20pupils%3A%20%20An%20update%20on%20provision%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20June%202011.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/The%20education%20of%20Gypsy%20Traveller%20pupils%3A%20%20An%20update%20on%20provision%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20June%202011.pdf


9

5. Most traveller education staff provide high-quality support for schools. 
They also provide important support for parents of Gypsy Traveller pupils 
and often the wider Gypsy Traveller community. In a few local authorities, 
traveller education staff work closely with education welfare officers to 
improve the attendance of Gypsy Traveller pupils. They make joint visits 
to Gypsy Traveller sites to establish the whereabouts of pupils. In a few 
cases, these actions are beginning to improve the attendance rates of 
Gypsy Traveller pupils.  

6. Despite this support, the overall attendance rates of secondary school age 
Gypsy Traveller pupils are still too low. Many Gypsy Traveller pupils still 
have levels of attendance that fall below the Welsh Assembly 
Government’s minimum target for this pupil group of 50% attendance a 
year. In several local authorities, Gypsy Traveller families are not 
prosecuted for attendance below this level. This would be counter-
productive as there is little evidence to show that prosecution improves 
the attendance of Gypsy Traveller pupils.  

7. In a very few schools, an ethos of inclusion is embedded in all aspects of 
school life, and there are comprehensive policies that cater appropriately 
to the needs of Gypsy Traveller pupils. However, overall, few secondary 
schools have policies or practices that specifically address the needs of 
Gypsy Traveller pupils or encourage a positive attitude towards school, 
even in schools with large numbers of these pupils. Most schools treat 
Gypsy Traveller pupils the same as other pupils, instead of according to 
their particular needs. Few secondary schools actively promote Gypsy 
Traveller culture as part of the curriculum. Very few schools make 
additional arrangements to avoid excluding Gypsy Traveller pupils on a 
temporary or permanent basis.  Few schools provide homework for pupils 
when they are travelling, to support continuity in their education. Only a 
few schools have suitable mechanisms in place to gauge the views of 
Gypsy Traveller pupils and this group of pupils is rarely represented on 
school councils. Few local authorities offer extra support when Gypsy 
Traveller pupils are moving from primary to secondary schools.  

8. The data that the Welsh Assembly Government collects on the numbers of 
Gypsy Traveller pupils is not always accurate and this can lead to 
inequalities in the allocation of grant funding. Many local authorities also 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



10

collect data on the achievement and attainment of Gypsy Traveller pupils. 
However, very few use this local data well to target support where it is 
most needed.  

9. Most local authorities use aspects of the Welsh Assembly Government 
circular ‘Moving Forward – Gypsy Traveller Education’ to inform their 
policy and to enhance their provision for Gypsy Traveller pupils. However, 
although the circular contains much helpful advice, its overall impact in 
most schools has been limited. The best practice is in Wrexham, Cardiff 
and Newport where initiatives such as joint working with youth services 
and events to raise awareness of Gypsy Traveller culture are impacting 
positively on the achievement and wellbeing of Gypsy Traveller pupils.

The recommendations of the report were as follows:

Local authorities and schools should:

R1 continue to find ways to improve the attendance rates of Gypsy Traveller 
children at secondary schools*;

R2 ensure that all schools have policies that address the specific needs of 
Gypsy
Traveller pupils*;

R3 ensure that the curriculum promotes the positive aspects of Gypsy 
Traveller culture, particularly in schools where this group of pupils is on 
roll*;

R4 improve the use of attendance, exclusions and attainment data to 
evaluate the
impact of support for Gypsy Traveller pupils; and

R5 ensure that any discrete provision for Gypsy Traveller pupils is only a 
short-term arrangement prior to full integration into mainstream secondary 
schools. 

The Welsh Assembly Government should:

Tudalen y pecyn 46



11

R1 ensure that the data collected on Gypsy Traveller pupils from information 
supplied by designated local authority support staff is accurate and 
consistent*;

R2 consider ways in which funding can be allocated so that it places greater 
emphasis on the needs of secondary age pupils*; and

R3 provide guidelines on prosecution in cases where Gypsy Traveller pupil 
attendance falls to under 200 sessions a year, to ensure a consistent 
approach across Wales.

*Recommendation in the 2005 Estyn report

In 2014, Estyn published a report called ‘Action on Bullying - A review of the 
effectiveness of action taken by schools to address bullying on the grounds 
of pupils’ protected characteristics’.  
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Action%20on%2
0bullying%20-%20June%202014.pdf

The report’s main findings are outlined below:

Pupils’ experiences of bullying

1 Too many pupils suffer from bullying at some point during their time in 
school.  The effects of being bullied can be short or long-term, 
psychological or social, and often result in underachievement or attendance 
problems.  Certain groups of pupils are at a higher-than-average risk of 
being bullied, including: 

 pupils with special needs or a disability;
 lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender pupils; and
 pupils from a minority ethnic or religious background. 

2 Pupils’ experiences of bullying and the ways in which schools deal with it 
vary widely.  In many secondary schools, how well staff deal with bullying 
may also vary within a school.  In these secondary schools, staff lack a clear 

Tudalen y pecyn 47

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Action%20on%20bullying%20-%20June%202014.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Action%20on%20bullying%20-%20June%202014.pdf


12

understanding of what constitutes a ‘reportable incident’ of bullying, 
because the school does not have an agreed definition of bullying that is 
clearly understood by the school community as a whole.  Even in schools that 
have robust strategies to address bullying, there is often not a common 
understanding of the importance of the protected characteristics or their 
legal implications.

Ethos and values

3 Pupils report lower instances of bullying, both generally and on the grounds 
of the protected characteristics, in schools where there is a strong ethos that 
promotes equality and diversity.  However, too few schools establish a 
positive basis for dealing with bullying by helping pupils to understand their 
rights and using the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.  
The schools where leaders do use the convention to establish an ethos in 
which children understand that they have and can exercise a right to be safe 
often achieve success in countering the effects and incidence of bullying.  
Case studies of such schools are quoted in chapter 2 of this report. 

4 There is a close link between how pupils treat one another and how well 
leaders communicate expectations about pupil behaviour.  The best schools 
take a proactive approach to preventing bullying and to mitigating its effects 
when it occurs.  For example, they make sure that there is effective 
supervision between lessons, at breaks and lunchtimes, when bullying is 
more likely to occur, and provide safe places for vulnerable groups during 
these times.  They provide counselling services and use external agencies to 
support pupils who experience bullying.

Consulting pupils

5 Very few schools consult with groups of pupils to gain a true picture of the 
extent and nature of bullying at the school.  The best schools use a range of 
methods to collect the views of pupils, parents or carers, and staff about 
bullying.  

Verbal bullying

Tudalen y pecyn 48



13

6 In a minority of primary schools, staff do not have a clear picture of the 
extent of verbal bullying that takes place or the sort of language that is used 
routinely as a form of insult.  In a minority of secondary schools, staff do not 
treat remarks that can cause offence seriously enough but treat it as normal 
‘banter’.   

Keeping records

7 Most schools in the survey keep records of behavioural incidents and a 
minority keep a specific record of bullying incidents.  Very few primary 
schools categorise incidents according to the protected characteristics.  As a 
result, they do not have a clear picture of patterns of behaviour over time 
that they can use to inform anti-bullying planning.  

Supporting pupils

8 Most pupils know whom to tell if they witness or experience bullying.  The 
best schools display details of where help is available, and provide details of 
local and national helplines.  These schools provide opportunities for pupils 
to support each other, for example through buddy systems.  Overall, most 
primary school pupils are confident that the school will deal with their issues 
effectively.  However, as pupils get older, they become less confident that 
the school will be able to resolve bullying issues. 

9 Most schools hold an ‘anti-bullying week’ annually that normally includes 
issues related to the protected characteristics.  These weeks usually focus on 
developing pupils’ personal, social and emotional skills, including greater 
resilience in dealing with bullying.  However, developing resilience is less 
well planned for in the school curriculum generally.  In many schools, the 
curriculum celebrates individual differences, but often shies away from the 
aspects that staff feel less confident in discussing, such as homophobia and 
gender reassignment.  A minority of schools are anxious about highlighting 
diversity issues and see this as potentially contentious.  This attitude means 
that a minority of schools only tackle issues as they arise, rather than 
building them into the curriculum proactively.

Cyberbullying

Tudalen y pecyn 49



14

10 In most secondary schools, pupils and staff are concerned about the rise in 
cyberbullying, particularly in relation to the protected characteristics.  
Cyberbullying has created new forms of bullying that are unfamiliar to some 
staff.  In the best practice, staff keep up-to-date with the technologies that 
pupils use and understand their potential for misuse inside and outside 
school.

Policies, plans and procedures

11 Many school strategic equality plans do not pay enough attention to the full 
range of protected characteristics.  The Equality Act 2010 has resulted in 
some confusion, particularly in primary schools, between a disability equality 
plan and a strategic equality plan, and actions relating to the protected 
characteristics may appear in neither.  Of the schools in the survey, only a 
few identify ‘reducing bullying on the grounds of protected characteristics’ 
as one of their equality objectives.  Even these schools do not refer to 
specifics, such as how they plan to tackle bullying on the grounds of race or 
address issues of homophobic bullying.

12 Many schools have separate behaviour and anti-bullying policies.  In the best 
examples, these policies are well understood and set out the school’s 
expectations about how members of the school community should treat each 
other.  A few schools have combined these policies into a single document.  
These schools see bullying within a continuum of behaviour and tend to deal 
with it more successfully.  

13 In drawing up strategic equality plans, schools are required to consult widely 
with the community and with groups representing protected characteristics.  
Many schools consult pupils, parents and staff, but few ask the views of 
groups linked to the protected characteristics.  

14 In many schools, governing bodies review progress towards meeting the 
strategic equality plan annually.  However, the quality of this monitoring and 
the information provided to governors varies too much and is generally 
unsatisfactory.  

Tudalen y pecyn 50



15

15 Local authorities provided schools with support when drawing up strategic 
equality plans.  Not all local authorities and regional consortia provide 
schools with ongoing support and advice through monitoring the 
appropriateness of schools’ strategic objectives or the progress towards 
meeting them well enough.  Many do not provide governors with effective 
training that enable them to fulfil their statutory responsibilities to monitor 
strategic equality plans and objectives.

16 In a few clusters, schools collaborate to identify possible issues in relation to 
the protected characteristics when preparing strategic equality plans.  These 
clusters share useful information and expertise in combatting discrimination 
and bullying.  However, there are very few cases where feeder and receiving 
schools work towards joint strategic equality objectives.
Staff development and attitudes

17 Many schools train staff on bullying, although the training tends to be 
general and does not relate specifically to the protected characteristics.  
Where staff receive specific training, they find this useful.  Schools report an 
absence of high-quality face-to-face training, especially related to 
transgender issues.  Many schools are unaware of the Welsh Government’s 
useful guidance ‘Respecting Others’.

The recommendations of the report were as follows:

Schools should:

R1 raise awareness of bullying on the grounds of protected characteristics 
with pupils, parents, staff, and governors and take a more proactive 
approach to preventing and mitigating its effects (see Appendix 3 for a 
checklist);

R2 consult pupils, parents, and others, to identify the extent and nature of 
bullying in the school and to agree the contents of strategic equality 
plans;

Tudalen y pecyn 51



16

R3 plan age-appropriate opportunities in the curriculum to discuss issues 
related to the protected characteristics and to build pupils’ resilience to 
bullying;

R4 ensure staff have a clear understanding of the extent and nature of 
bullying that may take place in school, including cyberbullying, 

R5 make sure that staff know how to deal with and record incidents of 
bullying;

R6 record and monitor incidents of bullying in relation to the protected 
characteristics and use this information to review strategic equality 
objectives; and

R7 make sure all policies and procedures meet the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010.

Local authorities and regional consortia should:

R8 provide training and support for school staff to improve their 
understanding of the Equality Act 2010 and its implications;

R9 provide training and support for school governors to enable them to 
fulfil their statutory responsibilities to monitor strategic equality plans 
and objectives; and

R10 monitor the quality and effectiveness of schools’ strategic equality plans 
more closely.

The Welsh Government should:

R11 publicise the ‘Respecting Others’ guidance. 

Estyn has published two thematic reports recently on the barriers that 
prevent learners from black and minority ethnic communities, and those with 
disabilities, from engaging in apprenticeship programmes.

Tudalen y pecyn 52



17

Barriers to apprenticeship - November 2014
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Barriers%20to%
20apprenticeship%20-%20November%202014.pdf

Breaking down barriers to apprenticeship – October 2015
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Breaking%20do
wn%20barriers%20to%20apprenticeship.pdf

The first report identifies the barriers, which include: 

 lack of awareness of apprenticeships by parents, employers and learners 
themselves 

 few apprenticeship role models from the BME communities or from 
disabled groups 

 difficulties in finding suitable work placements, especially where 
employers believe there will be a need to provide additional support for 
learners

 real or perceived discrimination 
 language difficulties for students for whom English is an additional 

language and cultural differences
 available support for learners not being accessed or fully utilised 
 parental anxiety that the young people may not be able to cope 
 insufficient co-ordination between schools, employers, work-based 

learning (WBL) providers and local community organisations to promote 
apprenticeships 

The report also identified that, although the majority of providers have good 
arrangements to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010, they are 
unable to show that this translates into measurable improvement in reducing 
barriers or stereotyping. 

The second report builds on the work undertaken in the first report. It 
identifies examples of good practice in promoting diversity in 
apprenticeships, with a focus on young people from BME communities and 
young people with disabilities, as well as identifying good practice examples 
of joint working between providers, employers and communities to achieve 
diversity in apprenticeships.

Tudalen y pecyn 53

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Barriers%20to%20apprenticeship%20-%20November%202014.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Barriers%20to%20apprenticeship%20-%20November%202014.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Breaking%20down%20barriers%20to%20apprenticeship.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Breaking%20down%20barriers%20to%20apprenticeship.pdf


18

Other relevant thematic reports include:
How effective is provision for learners aged 16 to 19 years with language 
acquisition needs? - July 2009
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/How%20effectiv
e%20is%20provision%20for%20learners%20aged%2016%20to%2019%20years
%20with%20language%20acquisition%20needs%3F%20-%20July%202009.pdf

Effective practice in tackling poverty and disadvantage in schools - 
November 2012
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Effective%20pra
ctice%20in%20tackling%20poverty%20and%20disadvantage%20in%20schools
%20-%20November%202012.pdf

Attendance in secondary schools - September 2014
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Attendance%20i
n%20secondary%20schools%20-%20September%202014.pdf

Any key issues arising from amalgamating the other previously separate 
grants into the Education Improvement Grant. 

Although not specifically relating to grant funding, Estyn also identifies and 
publishes relevant good practice case studies, for example:

Bishop Gore Comprehensive school’s commitment to supporting 
disadvantaged learners has made a significant impact on achievement, 
exclusion rates, understanding and tolerance. A close partnership with the 
local Ethnic Youth Support team has also helped to build strong community 
ties.
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/community-partnership-
supports-disadvantaged-learners

Through a combination of after-school classes for pupils and wider family 
engagement, staff at St Helen’s Primary School have reduced pupil absence 
and created an inclusive learning environment.
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-
pupil-attendance-0

Tudalen y pecyn 54

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/How%20effective%20is%20provision%20for%20learners%20aged%2016%20to%2019%20years%20with%20language%20acquisition%20needs%3F%20-%20July%202009.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/How%20effective%20is%20provision%20for%20learners%20aged%2016%20to%2019%20years%20with%20language%20acquisition%20needs%3F%20-%20July%202009.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/How%20effective%20is%20provision%20for%20learners%20aged%2016%20to%2019%20years%20with%20language%20acquisition%20needs%3F%20-%20July%202009.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Effective%20practice%20in%20tackling%20poverty%20and%20disadvantage%20in%20schools%20-%20November%202012.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Effective%20practice%20in%20tackling%20poverty%20and%20disadvantage%20in%20schools%20-%20November%202012.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Effective%20practice%20in%20tackling%20poverty%20and%20disadvantage%20in%20schools%20-%20November%202012.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Attendance%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20September%202014.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Attendance%20in%20secondary%20schools%20-%20September%202014.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/community-partnership-supports-disadvantaged-learners
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/community-partnership-supports-disadvantaged-learners
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-attendance-0
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-attendance-0


19

Pupils at Mount Street Infants School, Powys, come from a variety of ethnic 
groups, the largest of which is Nepalese. The school has worked hard to 
support the diverse needs of all learners, including creating a Hindu temple, 
appointing Nepali speaking staff and developing the outside learning 
environment for creative activities such as survival skills.
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-needs-diverse-
school-population

Tudalen y pecyn 55

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-needs-diverse-school-population
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-needs-diverse-school-population


1

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education 
Committee
CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 3
Ymateb gan : Dr Jonathan Brentnall
Response from : Dr Jonathan Brentnall

INTRODUCTION

Challenges facing pupils of minority ethnic backgrounds
Many minority ethnicity children and young people (CYP) in Wales face challenges, ranging from high levels 
of social disadvantage, to frequent experience of racism, to having to adapt to an unfamiliar country and 
culture knowing little or nothing of the languages of Wales. Yet, many of these CYP are resilient, rise to the 
challenges and, in time, manage to achieve well in school. Those who are welcomed, whose identities are 
positively acknowledged and who are given appropriately tailored educational support for language 
development and learning can go on to succeed. 

Long-term gains
The kinds of support and differentiated teaching provision offered by local authority specialists and school 
staff to such learners yield gains over the long-term. Helping an EAL/WAL learner to develop a new 
language, or building the trust of a Traveller family to improve their children’s school attendance, can take 
a long time and the educational outcomes of such support may only be seen several years later. Since at 
least 1992, discretely funded, targeted support has been provided for minority ethnic learners in schools 
across Wales, with teams of teachers becoming more widespread and better qualified as time has gone on. 
Concurrent with this provision, the attainment percentages of most minority ethnicity groupings have 
progressively increased and, in some cases, overtaken the percentages for the majority White British pupil 
population. Although improving, the figures for some Black, Mixed White and Black, Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller ethnicities have not shown such consistent increase and this needs to be addressed with greater 
focus. (See: http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/121119ethnicminoritypupilsen.pdf 
and http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/academic-achievement-pupil-
chracteristics/?tab=previous&lang=en) 

Current high attainment figures highlight the success of past support provided by sustained dedicated 
funding and specialist interventions. The outcomes for CYP who are no longer receiving such support as a 
result of the recent changes in policy and funding are likely to become evident in coming years.

Demographic changes
The demographic profile of Wales’ pupil population is continuously changing. Recently, an increase in 
numbers of CYP coming directly from EU nations, many of whom arrive with little or no English, has 
changed the profile of the Any Other White Background grouping, with attainment percentages dropping, 
indicating a clear need for continued support. Roma from Eastern Europe and refugee and asylum seeker 
children from places like Iraq, Afghanistan and Syria have also increased, some coming with considerable 
personal, social, educational and linguistic needs. The education system needs a body of specialist expertise 
and flexibility in its allocation to adapt to such changing circumstances and meet these learners’ needs.

Tudalen y pecyn 56

Eitem 3

http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/121119ethnicminoritypupilsen.pdf
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/academic-achievement-pupil-chracteristics/?tab=previous&lang=en
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/academic-achievement-pupil-chracteristics/?tab=previous&lang=en


2

Policy and funding changes

At a time when numbers and needs have been increasing, funding and targeted provision for these 
groupings of learners has been systematically reduced, removed or generalised within broad initiatives for 
‘all learners’, with a reduction in accountability for targeted spending and interventions. The 2014 policy on 
Minority Ethnic Achievement in Education in Wales indicated a need for capacity-building, yet many of the 
specialist teams tasked with delivering this have been reduced, with more funding delegated to schools.

EVIDENCE

Most of the following evidence has been collated through analysis of Welsh Government data, 
correspondence with Welsh Government and Local Authority officials and from Freedom of Information 
requests made to all 22 Local Authorities (LAs) in Wales in 2015, to identify some of the short-term impacts 
of the recent changes in policy and funding for minority ethnic achievement and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
education. Greater detail including charts illustrating the statistics, further analyses of data pertaining to 
poverty and attainment and copies of documentation are available but have been omitted for brevity.

FOI update 2016

Another FOI request was made on 17th October 2016 to update information for 2015/16 and 2016/17 but 
several returns from LAs have not been received by the required deadline or have been returned 
incomplete, so an accurate picture for this year is not possible to provide. Provisional indications from the 
incomplete 2016 FOI returns suggest that: 

 Consortia and individual local authorities are making very different choices about these areas of 
provision, with some maintaining levels of funding and support and others making considerable 
cuts or changes;

 aggregated across Wales, there has been a further reduction of over £0.5m directed to minority 
ethnic and Gypsy Traveller education from within EIG and additional local authority funds;

 approximately £0.5m more of the allocated funding has been devolved to schools, away from 
specialist central services;

 the number of ‘eligible’ pupils has increased by several hundred in the past year; 
 there has been a further reduction in specialist staff numbers employed in these areas of work.

Teacher Training

A GTCW survey of NQTs in 2012 found that coverage of EAL was the least satisfactory element of their ITT 
courses and a 2015 British Council report on EAL in Initial Teacher Training in Wales 
(https://eal.britishcouncil.org/information/eal-and-initial-teacher-education-wales) found that substantial 
percentages of qualifying trainees felt inadequately prepared to meet EAL pupils’ needs. The report also 
found that preparation for the relevant QTS standards was very inconsistent between courses. With the 
increased focus on schools and class teachers taking on the full responsibility of meeting the needs of 
minority ethnic and EAL/WAL learners, with far fewer centralised specialist support workers, this weakness 
is of particular concern. 

All teachers should be adequately trained and equipped to inclusively meet the needs of all learners in their 
schools and they should take on full responsibility for the teaching and learning of minority ethnic, Roma, 
Gypsy, Traveller and EAL/WAL pupils. However, it can sometimes be difficult to meet every child’s needs 
without additional support, some pupils’ needs extend beyond the classroom and partnerships are often 
required to ensure high quality provision and raise skill levels. The capacity and skillset of the current 

Tudalen y pecyn 57

https://eal.britishcouncil.org/information/eal-and-initial-teacher-education-wales


3

teacher workforce needs to be considerably developed before Wales is in a position to do away with its 
trained specialists in fields of work that are both important and very sensitive, and to delegate funding to 
schools without close accountability. The need for greater capacity-building and mainstreaming was 
highlighted in the 2014 Policy statement on Minority Ethnic Achievement in Education in Wales.

KEY POINTS 

 50 years of dedicated government funding to support the language development and 
achievement of minority ethnic pupils in schools has been brought to an end by the 
Labour-led Welsh Government, following Conservative-led Coalition policy changes in 
England in 2010, which are now being called into question by its own MPs.

 40 years of dedicated government funding for Traveller Education has been brought to an 
end, also following policy in England. 

 Both the Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant (MEAG) and Gypsy Traveller Education Grant 
(GT Grant) were used primarily to employ frontline members of specialist staff working 
directly with pupils of minority ethnic and GRT backgrounds, who were in need of targeted 
support, and their families.

 In 2012, a Review of MEAG was commissioned by the Welsh Government 
(http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1877/1/110112meagfinalen.pdf ) and the consultation responses detailed 
in the appendices indicated overwhelming support for retention and increase of the grant 
with greater security of long-term funding with ring-fenced protection and tighter Terms 
and Conditions. There were some criticisms and suggested improvements, with a lack of 
consensus about the benefits of delegating some funding to schools but nothing in the 
review indicated that the MEAG should or would be done away with.

 Beginning with a 4.76% cut to the MEAG at the start of 2014/15, followed by additional in-
year cuts of up to 15% and then the amalgamation of both the MEAG and GT grants with 
nine other education grant schemes to form the new general Education Improvement 
Grant for 2015/16, without ring-fenced areas of provision, the amount of funding made 
available to provide for pupils of these backgrounds was systematically reduced. The 
decision about how much of the EIG to allocate was devolved to Consortia and LAs. This 
EIG arrangement has continued into 2016/17.

 Between 2013/14 and 2015/16, the Welsh Government’s funding for Minority Ethnic 
Achievement was reduced by -24.7% and funding for Gypsy Traveller Education provision 
was reduced by -7%; a combined reduction of £2.67m from £11.6m to £8.93m (-23%). This 
amount was the final combined contribution of these two grants to the EIG for 2015/16.

 According to figures provided by WG and LAs under FOI, between 2009/10 and 2015/16, 
minority ethnic and GRT pupil numbers increased by approximately 50%.

 The increase in pupil numbers, combined with the funding cuts, means that between 
2009/10 and 2015/16 there was an effective reduction in the WG’s average per pupil 
funding of -42.7% (or -47.7% if using the LA FOI figure for the end of 2014/15) for eligible 
minority ethnic pupils and -24.3% for GRT pupils.  Between 2013/14 and 2015/16 alone, 
the effective reductions were -27.4% for minority ethnic pupils and -21.2% for GRT pupils.

 To ameliorate the severity of the WG’s funding reductions on levels of provision, LAs 
increased the amount of additional funding drawn from other sources, or committed from 
within their EIG allocations, from £1.86m in 2013/14 to £2.95m in 2015/16. However, this 
still resulted in an overall reduction in total funding dedicated to these areas of £1.48m or -
11.1%. Provisional figures for 2016/17 suggest that several LAs have further reduced EIG 
allocations or additional contributions for these areas of provision.

Tudalen y pecyn 58

http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1877/1/110112meagfinalen.pdf


4

 LA’s have historically contributed varying amounts of additional funding to support 
provision in these areas but the removal of ring-fencing means allocations are no longer 
protected to any extent. Figures from the 2015 FOI responses show that within the period 
from 2013/14 to 2015/16, the per pupil allocation for minority ethnic achievement 
decreased in 20 of the 22 LAs, and the per pupil allocation for GT education decreased in 
13 of the 18 LAs who had been in receipt of GT Grant funding in 2013/14. Not only that, 
but the range of variation between LAs’ per pupil allocations increased. This variation 
means there is an even greater post-code lottery in which a minority ethnic, EAL/WAL, 
Gypsy, Roma or Traveller pupil gets significantly more or less funding per head, depending 
on which authority they are in.  This contrasts markedly with the single per head amount 
for eFSM pupils allocated through the PDG.

 In Autumn 2014, the Welsh Government had recommended that at least 80% of the EIG 
funding should be devolved directly to schools. This would have completely decimated 
specialist services but, following intervention by ADEW and the WLGA, this 
recommendation was relaxed, allowing individual Consortia and LAs to decide how much 
to delegate. Despite the initial expressions of concern, the amount of money directed to 
support EMA and GT education provision that was devolved to schools increased by 571% 
from £349,795 to £2,347,443, between 2013/14 and 2015/16. For 2016/2017, provisional 
figures from FOI suggest this is now closer to £3m.

 By the end of August 2015, the impact of these policy changes and funding reductions had 
resulted in a combined reduction of FTE specialist EMA and GT staff of -17.7%. 

 The reduction in White British/Welsh majority ethnicity staff was -16.2% and the reduction 
in Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic/Gypsy Traveller ethnicity staff was -21.8%. As these 
specialist services employ a sizeable proportion of the BAME and GT staff members 
working in education in Wales, there has been a disproportionate impact on minority 
ethnic workers within these services and consequently in the education workforce as a 
whole.

 The ratio of FTE specialist teaching staff to minority ethnic pupils went from 1:109 in 
2013/14 to 1:161 at the end of the 2014/15 academic year. For EAL pupils at Stages A-C 
(those in most need of additional specialist input) the ratio went from 1:58 to 1:76. The 
2016 FOI figures suggest this ratio is now even wider. Bearing in mind that the 21,377 (in 
2015) EAL Stage A-C pupils are distributed widely across a large number of schools, 
provision of effective individualised support has become much more difficult.

 From 2013/14 to 2015/16, the ratio of FTE specialist GRT staff to GRT pupils went from 
1:36 to 1:40. (Based on the GT Grant application figures which include GT children and 
young people who are in need of support but NOT registered in schools, the ratio went 
from 1:44 to 1:59.) When we consider that a class teacher to pupil ratio of 1:30 would be 
considered barely acceptable in a school, such a ratio is particularly unsatisfactory for 
pupils who are spread over a number of schools and sites, who may move between schools 
and between LAs, who may need to be supported out of school, and who are likely to have 
considerable educational, socio-economic and sometimes linguistic needs.

 During this time period from 2013/14 to 2016/17, when austerity has compelled the Welsh 
Government to make some difficult financial decisions and reductions in many areas, it has 
sought to preserve levels of funding for frontline school budgets to the benefit of all 
children and young people. However, the cuts made to targeted, frontline support for 
minority ethnic, EAL/WAL and GRT pupils, in particular, have been disproportionately high 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



5

by comparison. Combined with the impact on BAME staffing, there may be a case to make 
for breach of Equality legislation and potential racial discrimination.

Equality compliance

 Despite its many commitments and obligations under the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) Wales Regulations 2011, the Welsh Government did not carry out Equality Impact 
Assessments of the decisions to make in-year cuts to the MEAG in 2014/15 or to terminate 
the MEAG and GT grant schemes by incorporating them in the EIG until months after the 
decisions had been made (the specific EIAs are dated April 2015, published on web as 
19/05/15, although they confusingly include reference to two other dates, June 2014 for 
the in-year cuts and August 2014 for the two EIG EIAs). Several requests were made for the 
EIAs during 2014 and 2015 but they were not forthcoming in any form until April/May 
2015). 

 However, the Integrated Strategic Impact Assessment carried out for the Supplementary 
Budget in 2014, identified that the incorporation of the MEAG and GT Grants in the EIG and 
the accompanying reductions in funding: “… could reduce the positive impact on the 
protected characteristic of race”. 

“9.4 The grant for the education of Traveller’s children and the minority ethnic 
achievement grant will merge together and then into the larger grant for school 
improvement. There will be a decrease to the overall quantum of funding in this 
area, this could reduce the positive impact on the protected characteristic of race 
and those below 16…” (pages 20, 21 http://wales.gov.uk/funding/budget/draft-
budget-2015-16/?lang=en)

Despite the acknowledgement that the decrease in the quantum of funding ‘could reduce 
the positive impact’ (rather than ‘could have a negative impact’), no consultation or search 
for evidence to assess the potential ‘reduction in positive impact’ was initiated. The 
inability to foresee that making these changes would result in a substantial (-17.7%) 
reduction in staffing from an area of specialist education provision for pupils with 
significant needs is quite astonishing. 

 The individual EIA for the 2014/15 in-year cuts, even though it was written retrospectively, 
omitted any reference to the changes taking place relating to the EIG and was written as if 
the MEAG were continuing as a dedicated grant e.g.

“The MEAG supports children from ethnic minority backgrounds to acquire the 
language skills in English/Welsh to improve their chance of equality of opportunity 
in their school careers, and beyond, so that they will be able to reach their full 
potential.

The grant continues to represent significant Welsh Government funding in 2014-15 
and reflects the Welsh Government’s commitment to equal opportunity for this 
learner group.

Local authorities are able to supplement this funding with additional resource from 
RSG. This reflects the Welsh Government’s commitment to equal opportunity for this 
learner group.

Tudalen y pecyn 60

http://wales.gov.uk/funding/budget/draft-budget-2015-16/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/funding/budget/draft-budget-2015-16/?lang=en


6

Local Authorities and Regional Education Consortia are being tasked with 
redesigning service provision to be more focussed, better targeted and more 
outcomes focussed. In this way children with EAL (and WAL) will continue to have 
their needs met and the support they need to overcome barriers to learning 
associated with ethnic minority background through school improvement policy and 
practice.” 
(page 13 - 150519-in-year-changes-to-the-minority-ethnic-achievement-grant-
2014-15-en) 

 The EIAs for both the MEAG in-year funding reductions and the incorporation of the MEAG 
and GT Grant in the EIG, whilst acknowledging ‘potential’ for negative impact, concluded 
that the likely impact was None/Negligible in respect of all protected equality 
characteristics including race, religion and belief or non-belief. 

“The primary aim of the MEAG was to support children from minority ethnic 
backgrounds and there is the potential for a change in the funding arrangements to 
have a negative impact on services delivered by the local authority.
However the impact should be negligible as these learners should continue to be 
supported through the new grant arrangements” (page 10 - 150519-incorporation-
of-the-minority-ethnic-achievement-grant-in-the-education-improvement-grant-
2015-16-en)

“Gypsies and Travellers are recognised ethnic groups and depending on the 
priorities of local authorities there is the potential for a negative impact on the race 
strand. However, the impact should be negligible as these learners should continue 
to be supported through the new grant arrangements.” (page 9 - 150519-
incorporation-of-the-specific-grant-for-the-education-of-gypsy-and-traveller-
children-in-the-education-improvement-grant-2015-16-en)

 Large portions of the text from the EIA for the MEAG in-year cuts were copied into the EIA 
produced for ‘incorporation in the EIG’, some sections with no modification, adding weight 
to the idea that the EIAs were treated in a cursory, tokenistic manner e.g. the following 
were copied directly without recognition that the second EIA concerned the termination of 
the MEAG with the reduced funding amount being transferred to a non-ring-fenced grant:

“MEAG funding supports Articles 28, 29 & 30 of the UNCRC” (page13)

“The grant funding is delivered to support the education of this cohort of children, 
and is not to specifically designed to eliminate unlawful discrimination or 
harassment.” (page 16 - 150519-incorporation-of-the-minority-ethnic-achievement-
grant-in-the-education-improvement-grant-2015-16-en)

Some sections do not directly answer the questions asked in the EIA template.

 There was little consideration of hard data, and what was cited illustrates the success of 
provision under the MEAG, rather than indicating a need for change. Criticism was levelled 
at provision for Gypsy and Traveller pupils, suggesting insufficient improvement but the 
claim that a different approach is required ‘based on the evidence’ is not supported by any 
evidence to indicate that the proposed changes will improve performance.

Tudalen y pecyn 61



7

“Despite the resources directed at the educational achievement of gypsy and 
traveller children, the rate of progress for some has not demonstrated sufficient 
improvement.
The Welsh Government believes that based on the evidence a different approach is 
required and that local authorities need to take greater responsibility for improving 
the life chances for certain cohorts of these children, supported by a robust delivery 
framework. Within the new funding regime, local authorities will decide the level of 
financial investment they wish to make in this area from the Education 
Improvement Grant and explore other means of ensuring that their needs are met.” 
(pages 4 and 5 - 150519-incorporation-of-the-specific-grant-for-the-education-of-
gypsy-and-traveller-children-in-the-education-improvement-grant-2015-16-en)

In the Rewriting the Future programme (2014: 12) for tackling the link between poverty 
and educational disadvantage, the Welsh Government used comparative data for England 
to highlight how much Wales needs to improve in that area. Comparison of 2014 
attainment figures for Gypsy/Roma pupils in England and Wales shows that more pupils of 
these backgrounds in Wales are succeeding, with 23.4% gaining the Level 2 Threshold and 
12.5% gaining the Level 2 Threshold inclusive, compared to England’s figure of only 11.6% 
attaining 5 A*-C GCSEs. (Wales figures for Travellers are not disclosed). On this evidence, 
there is a case to maintain and perhaps expand provision as it is. 
(http://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2015/150331-academic-achievement-pupil-
characteristics-2014.pdf https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gcse-and-equivalent-
attainment-by-pupil-characteristics-2014). 

 No formal consultations were carried out with the key stakeholders: pupils and their 
parents, over the changes and potential reductions in specialist support for pupils. 

 In the EIAs, two meetings were misleadingly cited as being a part of the formal EIA 
consultation process; one from 12 November 2014 with the MEALA group and GT Forum 
LA representatives, and another from 21 January 2015, which was an annual scheduled 
meeting between the Minister for Education and EALAW (the professional association for 
EAL/WAL in Wales). The record of the November workshop, which was not for ‘evaluating 
potential equality impact’ but for ‘managing transition to the EIG’, shows that the 
delegates who were present expressed ‘considerable disquiet’ about the funding cuts and 
proposed changes they were presented with. Whilst they identified some potential 
positives of more collaborative working at Consortium level, they were deeply concerned 
about many of the implications and the impact they would have on pupil support and 
staffing. These concerns were not included in the EIAs as potential impacts, despite this 
being a requirement of the EIA review process. Nor do they appear to have been heeded, 
as no changes were made to the funding and policy decisions. 

 Page 24 of the Annual Report on Equality 2014-2015 
(http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/151123-annual-report-2014-2015-en.pdf) 
states:

“Equality Impact Assessments 
The Welsh Government, as with other devolved public bodies covered by the Equality Act 
2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011, is required to carry out Equality Impact 

Tudalen y pecyn 62

http://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2015/150331-academic-achievement-pupil-characteristics-2014.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2015/150331-academic-achievement-pupil-characteristics-2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gcse-and-equivalent-attainment-by-pupil-characteristics-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gcse-and-equivalent-attainment-by-pupil-characteristics-2014
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/151123-annual-report-2014-2015-en.pdf


8

Assessments in respect of protected groups, across its proposed policies and practices, those 
it has decided to review, and the changes it proposes to make.”

Pages 25 and 26 outline the need for filling evidence gaps, development of action plans 
and future reviews. There appears to be little evidence that these commitments were 
acted upon in respect of the MEAG and GT grants. On page 38, both grants are discussed in 
the present tense, as if still extant and continuing, but at the bottom of the page, the last 
three lines mention: 

“In the draft Budget statement in September 2014, a new single grant funding stream, the 
Education Improvement Grant, was announced for introduction in 2015-2016. This new 
funding stream will draw together separate grant arrangements, including those for 
minority ethnic and Gypsy and Traveller attainment.” (page 38 of the Annual Report on 
Equality 2014-2015 http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/151123-annual-
report-2014-2015-en.pdf)

This is the only comment included in the report on the MEAG and GT Grant funding cuts and their 
incorporation within the EIG.

 The Equality Impact Assessment for the Rewriting the Future Programme also includes some 
potentially misleading comments, which have been cited as arguments to support the decision to 
terminate the MEAG and GT education grants (http://gov.wales/docs//equality-impact-
assessments/141106e-EIA-Rewriting-the-Future-Programme.pdf ):  

“The proportion of pupils eligible for free school meals varies by ethnic group3. Compared to 
the average, high proportions of Gypsies and Traveller pupils are eFSM. There are also 
higher than average proportions of Black African, Black Caribbean, White and Black African, 
White and Black Caribbean, Pakistani, and Bangladeshi pupils. The percentage of Indian 
and Chinese pupils who are eligible for FSM is below the average for all pupils.” 

“The programme should produce a positive impact that will be felt disproportionately by 
groups with high proportions of eFSM pupils. Those pupils coming from families where 
English is not the first language at home should also benefit from the English for Speakers 
of Other Languages (ESOL) provision.”

“There are no aspects of the Programme which involve the redirection of resources away 
from particular ethnic groups.” (p9, 10)

 Firstly, if a grouping of learners experiences disadvantage that is disproportionate by 
comparison to other groupings, then action taken to address that inequality is 
proportionate to the disadvantage – the grouping as a whole will not benefit from a 
disproportionately positive impact but only a proportionate one that attempts to bring 
about greater equality. 

 Secondly, a proportion of the GRT pupils who have benefited from the GT Education Grant-
funded support of GRT specialists are not on school rolls, and others move from one school 
to another mid-year or from year to year, so the allocation of PDG funding to the school 
where they were registered in the previous year may not benefit them at all.

 Thirdly, in the statement that “Those pupils coming from families where English is not the first 
language at home should also benefit from the English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) 
provision”, it is unclear what the explicit benefit on pupils will be. Most EAL CYP learn 
English much more quickly in school than their parents do, so this is just a vague 
generalisation.

Tudalen y pecyn 63

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/151123-annual-report-2014-2015-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/151123-annual-report-2014-2015-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs//equality-impact-assessments/141106e-EIA-Rewriting-the-Future-Programme.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs//equality-impact-assessments/141106e-EIA-Rewriting-the-Future-Programme.pdf


9

 Lastly, the money taken from the reduced grants amalgamated to form the EIG (including 
the MEAG and GT grant) amounted to a similar increase in the Pupil Deprivation Grant 
from 2014/15 to 2015/16: approximately £10m came out of the grant reductions at 
transition and the PDG was increased by approximately £10m that year, so the assertion 
that “There are no aspects of the Programme which involve the redirection of resources away from 
particular ethnic groups” could be regarded with some suspicion. The PDG is not intended for 
targeting the needs of EAL learners (as the MEAG was), certainly not if they are nFSM, and 
it has no ring-fencing for minority ethnic or GRT learners who are eFSM. Without a strict 
accountability framework for how these pupils are actually benefiting ‘proportionately’ or 
‘disproportionately’ from the PDG in schools, it is difficult to regard this statement as 
supportable, or to evaluate the extent that the transition to the new arrangements is 
directly benefiting minority ethnic learners in the way that the MEAG and GT Grant did.

 The evidence from the 2015 FOI data referred to in this paper, which shows that the 
impacts on pupil funding and specialist staffing have been considerable, together with the 
weaknesses evident in the processes relating to Equality compliance, suggest that the 
Welsh Government has fallen well short of its responsibilities in respect of Equality duties, 
consultation and in meeting the particular needs of pupils with the protected 
characteristics of Black, Asian, Gypsy, Roma, Traveller and other minority ethnicities.

 It is my opinion that a thorough review of how the needs of CYP from these backgrounds 
should best be developed in conjunction with the new national curriculum for Wales is 
urgently required. 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



10

ADDENDUM

BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT INFORMATION

Historical background 

Funding and provision for minority ethnic achievement and EAL/WAL in England and Wales

For almost 50 years, dedicated funding has been in place to support pupils of minority ethnic 
backgrounds in education in England and Wales. 

In the 1960s, it was recognised that many members of minority ethnic and migrant communities, 
especially children and young people, faced a number of linguistic, cultural and educational 
challenges, which were distinct from those of the majority ethnic White British population and 
which were not being adequately addressed by mainstream education or other public services. 

In 1966, funding administered by Section 11 of the Home Office was provided to address these 
issues, and was used to support the teaching of English (then referred to as English as a Second 
Language or ESL) and to promote integration.

Through the 1970s and 1980s, it became apparent that teaching children and young people ESL, 
often in segregated teaching units, was not the most effective or equitable approach and, in fact, 
the education system itself – the curriculum, the school environment and the attitudes of teachers 
and pupils to diversity – needed to change in order to ensure a genuinely inclusive school 
experience for all pupils. 

Many local authorities set up Multicultural Education, ESL or Race Equality services to promote 
diversity and equality throughout the curriculum and school life, as well as to work directly with 
pupils. The majority of services were centralised and they employed teachers and bilingual 
teaching assistants to work in schools, but with the flexibility to move responsively to meet 
changing needs and pupil distributions.

During this time, only a small number of local authorities in Wales accessed Section 11 funding but 
a few others used their own core education funding to pay for individuals or small teams of 
teachers to work with early stage ESL learners and to promote multicultural education and race 
equality.

In 1991, the Section 11 Grant was reorganised to make a more accountable system in which local 
authorities had to bid for funding based on a quantifiable assessment of need, with clear targets 
for monitoring expenditure and pupil progress. This provided an opportunity for a number of local 
authorities in Wales to make successful bids and set up new teams, initially funded for 3-5 years, 
greatly expanding the range of professional expertise in Wales.

In 1994, Section 11 funding was transferred from the Home Office to the Department for 
Education and renamed the Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant (EMAG). 

Under the national curriculum assessment arrangements, more substantial data on pupil 
attainment became available and, when these data were analysed by ethnicity, they revealed 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



11

patterns of low attainment percentages for several minority ethnic groupings. As a result, in the 
context of a wider agenda to improve educational standards for all pupils, work with minority 
ethnic pupils was refocused towards raising achievement outcomes, rather than just giving 
attention to developing English and encouraging multicultural education. 

Also around this time, in recognition of the fact that many minority ethnic pupils already used at 
least one other language prior to learning English, ESL was renamed English as an Additional 
Language or EAL (English being an addition to their linguistic repertoire).

Following the devolution of responsibility for education policy to Wales, in 1999, the EMAG was 
retained as a discrete, ring-fenced funding stream and was later amalgamated with a separate 
Asylum Seeker Grant, being renamed as the Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant (MEAG). 

Over time, all 22 local authorities in Wales bid for and were allocated amounts of funding via the 
MEAG, based on numbers of pupils, weighted according to age, levels of English proficiency and 
asylum seeker status. MEAG funding was used to provide achievement and language support for 
pupils and to offer professional development to schools, predominantly through centralised teams 
of specialist workers. Many of the central services encouraged their staff to pursue Masters level 
qualifications to ensure a high standard of professional development within this specialist field.

During the late 2000s, the growing numbers of minority ethnic pupils in Welsh-medium and 
bilingual schools, together with the broader focus on raising achievement, led to the MEAG terms 
and conditions being widened to include those learning in English-medium, Welsh-medium and 
bilingual contexts. Although Welsh language provision had historically been funded and provided 
via other means, it was considered important to recognise that minority ethnic pupils in Wales 
needed to learn both English and Welsh as Additional Languages to succeed in school, and that 
their needs were distinctive. This resulted in the use of the abbreviations EAL/WAL and CIY/SIY in 
Cymraeg. However, to date, there has not been any official clarification of how to address both 
effectively within the existing education policy frameworks.

The good practice that has been built up over the past two and a half decades across Wales has 
yielded a progressive improvement in the numbers of minority ethnic pupils succeeding in 
compulsory education. The grouped attainment figures of several minority ethnicities are higher 
than the national average, but there are still significant gaps in: 

 the consistency of Initial Teacher Training in these areas;
 teachers’ professional knowledge and confidence in meeting pupils’ needs; 
 the implementation of good practice in both additional language development and 

multicultural education;
 capacity to meet the multiple needs of pupils who are asylum seekers, refugees, EU Roma, 

early stage EAL/WAL learners and those with both language development and Additional 
Learning Needs;

 the attainment figures of a number of specific minority ethnic groupings, at various key 
stages, especially those of Black, Mixed and GRT backgrounds (see below on Attainment).

Tudalen y pecyn 66



12

The effort to ensure equality in education for pupils of all racial and ethnic backgrounds and to 
create a genuinely inclusive mainstream education system in all schools is unfinished business – 
there is still much work to do. In the current political and populist media climate, it would be too 
easy to lower the priority given to these groupings of learners but the long-term consequences for 
their integration, academic success and social mobility, and for community cohesion in Wales, in 
general should not be underestimated. Having communities of people who might feel 
disadvantaged, unsupported or discriminated against is not a positive thing for a cohesive Wales.

Funding and provision for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller education 

Discrete funding for addressing the varied educational and other needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
also pre-dates devolution in Wales. 

In England and Wales, dedicated funding has been provided in a variety of ways and through 
different streams since at least the 1970s, following the 1967 Plowden Report which identified 
Gypsies as “probably the most severely deprived children in the country”, arguing that committed 
teams of professionals were needed to successfully “arrest the cycle” of educational disadvantage 
they experienced (cited in Foster and Norton, The Equal Rights Review, vol 8. 2012: 102/3).

Through the 1980s and 1990s, centrally-funded Traveller Education Services developed their 
professional practice, engaging with communities and families, liaising between agencies, working 
with schools and helping to raise pupil achievement. 

Funding was provided for under a number of Education Acts, including Section 488 of the 1996 
Education Act grants ‘for education of Travellers and displaced persons’. 

At one point in England, the funding was combined with the EMAG for a short period to form the 
EMTAG, before being separated again in recognition of differences between the two areas of 
work. 

During the 2000s, within the National Strategies in England, projects were targeted under the 
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Achievement Programme (GRTAP) and guidance materials were 
produced for schools and other professionals. A few years ago, however, ring-fencing for GRT 
education funding in England was removed, and sources of finance for this area of work were 
transferred to the general Children’s Services Grant, then the Area Based Grant, then funding to 
support ‘vulnerable families’. The shift towards a framework of ‘universal services which support 
every child’ effectively reduced the focused attention given to pupils of GRT backgrounds and led 
to a decline in central Traveller Education Services (Foster and Norton, The Equal Rights Review, 
vol 8. 2012: 104).

In Wales, following devolution, the Section 488 Grant continued to be used as the basis for 
funding at a 75% matched-rate. It was increased on several occasions between 1999 and 2013/14, 
and was commonly referred to as the Traveller Education Grant or Gypsy Traveller (GT) Education 
Grant.

Tudalen y pecyn 67



13

Prior to 2015/16, nineteen LAs have bid for GT Grant funding but only ten LAs have had 
centralised Traveller Education Services, with at least two LAs running combined Minority Ethnic 
and Traveller Education Services. Others have appointed individual officers or teachers with 
dedicated responsibility for overseeing this area of provision. Most specialist workers have 
targeted a wide range of issues and needs, building relationships with GRT communities and 
families, supporting children with education and other matters, working both within and outside 
of school premises, liaising between agencies and across authorities, teaching, training staff, and 
advocating on behalf of GRT pupils and their families.  

Originally, most provision was focused on Gypsies and Travellers of White British and Irish 
backgrounds. However, since European Union (EU) Accession broadened the range of nationalities 
eligible for free movement within the EU, numbers of EU Roma pupils have increased in both 
England and Wales. Many pupils face multiple social, racial and educational disadvantages. Most 
have English and Welsh as Additional Language learning needs as well as other social, cultural, 
physical, psychological and educational needs. Consequently, in recent years, EU Roma pupils have 
been deemed eligible for funded support from both the MEAG and the GT Education Grant in 
Wales.

Together, the British, Irish and EU groupings are often referred to collectively as Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller (GRT) pupils.

Data

Collecting accurate data on GRT CYP and their backgrounds has long been problematic, often 
leading to underestimations of population figures and support needs. CYP may move as their 
families travel, some may not be registered on school rolls, some do not have their ethnicity 
accurately recorded on school databases (many not wanting to declare it for fear of 
discrimination) and there is quite a high drop-out rate from formal schooling as pupils get older. 
The data that are available from schools reveal that a large proportion of GRT CYP are from low 
income households, a substantial number have Special or Additional Learning Needs, and the 
grouped attainment figures at all Key Stages are the lowest of all the ethnicity groupings, 
especially at Key Stage 4. GRT CYP also tend to experience a high level of racism and discrimination 
both in and out of school. The nature and extent of their needs make GRT CYP one of the 
groupings most in need of targeted funding and provision.

For several reasons, including those above, accurate figures for numbers of GRT CYP in Wales are 
difficult to obtain. When an FOI request was made of LAs and the WG in 2015, it yielded three 
different numbers, revealing an issue about the adequacy of data collection processes:

 PLASC – the official record of pupils ethnicity as recorded in schools SIMS for GRT pupils on roll in 
Jan 2015 = 891

 Local Authority FOI request responses – a mixture of LA PLASC records and numbers of other pupils 
known to be in schools but not recorded in schools’ SIMS in Jan 2015 = 1587

 WG GT Grant Local Authority submissions – the total number of GRT pupils known to be attending 
schools and not attending schools: on roll, recorded on SIMS, not on roll, not recorded on SIMS, not 
in school but in need of off-site support = 2542*

Tudalen y pecyn 68



14

There is a similar difficulty in identifying accurate numbers of other minority ethnic pupils:

 PLASC - the official record of pupils ethnicity as recorded in schools SIMS for pupils on roll in Jan 
2015 = 34692

 MEAG submission (rolled over from 2013/14) - 39658
 LA FOI request – 43601*

*Local authority Grant submissions were based on  numbers of CYP collected by staff working in schools 
and communities, with CYP and families, compiling lists of CYP they knew were in schools or were in need 
of educational support, not just those entered into the schools’ SIMS databases.

Attainment

The grouped attainment figures of a number of minority ethnicity groupings are still below the 
national average and, in some cases, decline throughout schooling rather than narrow the gap. 
This is particularly the case for certain Black African, Caribbean and Mixed ethnicity groupings.

Through the 1990s and 2000s, notable progress was made in narrowing the attainment gaps 
between the figures of several ethnicity groupings and the national figures for All Pupils. In Wales, 
the figures for some minority ethnicity groupings have improved significantly with a number of 
groupings having percentages that are near or above the national figures.

A match-funded EU Convergence Fund project in Wales, targeting secondary age pupil 
achievement between 2010 and 2013 succeeded in increasing the percentage of targeted minority 
ethnic pupils achieving 5 A*-C at GCSE by 9%, and contributed to a doubling of the national 
percentage of all minority ethnic pupils achieving this target outcome during the same period, 
compared to the increase in the figure for All pupils, nationally.

Stage A-C EAL/WAL learners are in particular need of targeted support for several years in order to 
access the curriculum, demonstrate their knowledge and understanding and to develop their 
English and Welsh language.

With the right support, most EAL/WAL pupils make good progress, ‘catching up’ with their peers in 
English and Welsh over time and, when they approach age-appropriate proficiency, the 
percentages of EAL/WAL pupils at Stages D and E achieving the target levels in tests and 
examinations are higher than the national figures.

Nevertheless, every year, there are new arrivals, many of whom have little or no English or Welsh 
and who need a great deal of support to adapt to their new situation, to learn about school-life 
and the education system, to learn how to read, write, speak and understand English and Welsh 
and to make up gaps in their linguistic and curriculum knowledge. There are also many individual 
pupils who do not manage to catch up in time for formal examinations or to achieve well enough 
through their schooling to realise their academic potential.

At a national level, attainment gaps remain for some ethnicity groupings. The needs of many GRT 
CYP are multiple and considerable and their grouped attainment figures are the lowest of all the 
ethnicity groupings. The figures for several of the Black and Mixed ethnicity groupings are also 
lower than average or decline to become so by KS4, which is a matter of ongoing concern.

Tudalen y pecyn 69



15

There is clearly a need to continue improving the quality of education provision and to maintain 
support dedicated to addressing the particular needs of minority ethnic, GRT and EAL/WAL pupils.

Consequently, it is clear that the education system in Wales is still not adequately addressing all of 
the issues pertaining to minority ethnic achievement and there remains a distinct need for 
targeted interventions and support, dedicated funding and well-qualified specialist staff to work 
with schools and pupils.

Tudalen y pecyn 70



16

DATA CHARTS

The following four charts illustrate the main aggregated figures pertaining to the impact of policy and 
funding changes on provision for Children and Young People of Minority Ethnic, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
backgrounds.

Chart 1.

30745

36066 36776
40249

42339
46048

47628

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

50000

Total number of Minority Ethnic & GRT pupils in Wales

Chart 2.

10.5 10.3 10.5
11

11.6

9.6
8.9

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

Total of MEAG and GT Grant (and EIG/LA Allocations 2015/16) combined (£m)

Tudalen y pecyn 71



17

Chart 3.

341.52

285.59 285.51 273.30 273.98

208.48
187.45

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

350.00

400.00

Average per pupil amount targeted funding (£)

Chart 4.

0.0

-16.4 -16.4
-20.0 -19.8

-39.0

-45.1

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

-50.0

-45.0

-40.0

-35.0

-30.0

-25.0

-20.0

-15.0

-10.0

-5.0

0.0

Percentage reduction in average per pupil funding

Tudalen y pecyn 72



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 73

Eitem 4Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



1

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education 
Committee
CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 4
Ymateb gan : Cymdeithas Cyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Cymru / 
Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru
Response from : Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru / Welsh Local 
Government Association

1. The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) represents the 22 local 
authorities in Wales; the three national park authorities and three fire and rescue 
authorities are associate members.  It seeks to provide representation to local 
authorities within an emerging policy framework that satisfies the key priorities of 
our members and delivers a broad range of services that add value to Welsh Local 
Government and the communities they serve.

2. The Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS Cymru) is the 
professional and strategic leadership organisation for social services in Wales. It 
comprises statutory Directors of Social Services and the Heads of Service who 
support them in delivering social services responsibilities and accountabilities, a 
group of more than 80 social services leaders across the 22 local authorities in 
Wales. 

3. In compiling our response, we interpret statutory advocacy as a shared 
responsibility across public services which involves all staff in:
• speaking up for children and young people;
• empowering them to make sure that their rights are respected and their 

views, wishes and feelings are heard at all times
• representing their views, wishes and feelings to decision-makers; and 
• helping them to navigate complex systems and processes.

Tudalen y pecyn 83



2

Advocacy under Part 10 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act

4. The WLGA and ADSS Cymru have often expressed our broad support for the vision 
and the ambitious principles set out in the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act.  One of the principles embedded in the Act is that people are at the heart of 
the new system and have an equal say in deciding the care and support they 
receive.  It emphasises voice and control – putting the individual and their needs at 
the centre of their care and giving them a voice in, and control over reaching the 
outcomes that help them achieve well-being. 

5. The child or young person’s views, wishes and feelings, and (where appropriate) 
those of their parents, are crucial in determining what their personal outcomes are 
and how they can best be met. The extent to which a child or young person can 
contribute to, and participate in, defining and achieving those outcomes will depend 
upon their age and understanding, and they should be supported in this by a range 
of professionals and other people involved with them, including (as appropriate) 
their parents, family and friends, social workers, independent reviewing officers, 
independent visitors and advocates. In implementing the Act, local authorities have 
placed considerable emphasis on 'Better Conversations' and 'Inspirational 
Conversations' training.  This is intended to increase levels of competence among 
staff across relevant organisations in delivering 'What matters?' conversations right 
from the point of initial discussions with the people who make contact because they 
may need care and support.  

6. It is important then to be aware that advocacy can and should be undertaken by a 
wide range of people and professionals.  Anybody exercising functions under the 
Act must have regard to the importance of providing appropriate support to enable 
the individual to participate in decisions which affect him or her, to the extent which 
is appropriate in the circumstances.  Also, the National Outcomes Framework for 
Social Services sets out well-being outcomes for people who need care and support 
and carers who need support.  The framework states that people must speak for 
themselves and contribute to the decisions affecting their lives, or have someone 
who can do it for them.  The extent to which this is achieved must be measured.  

7. As set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), 
children and young people have a right to be heard in matters affecting their 
futures.  Wales has ratified the UNCRC as a basis for taking forward children’s 
rights.  Under the Rights of Children and Young Person’s (Wales) Measure 2011, 
Welsh Ministers have a duty to pay due regard to the UNCRC in all of their 
functions.  The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act requires any persons to 
have due regard to the UNCRC.  Detail on exercising this duty has been provided in 
the Code of Practice in relation to Part 2 of the Act.  

Tudalen y pecyn 84



3

8. Throughout the Act and under Part 10 specifically, there is a clear and strong 
emphasis placed on the role of advocacy.  It is vital that people are supported 
appropriately in order to ensure that an individual is enabled to represent their 
interests, exercise their rights, express their views, explore and make informed 
choices.  A local authority’s duty to provide advocacy services (or assistance by way 
of representation) in relation to its social services functions is re-stated under 
Sections 171-178 of the Act.  Commissioners of advocacy service and advocacy 
service providers should be able to establish the quality as well as the quantity of 
their work, providing assurance that they are making a positive difference to 
children and young people’s lives.  The Part 10 Code of Practice (Advocacy) applies.

9. Options include peer advocacy, informal advocacy, formal advocacy and 
independent professional advocacy.  It is positive that Part 10 recognises that 
advocacy can take many forms and that it is not confined to arrangements of an 
independent advocate by a local authority.  For example, the role of a trusted adult 
already known to a child can be vital.  There is an important role for local 
authorities and also for third sector organisations and the NHS to support all types 
of advocacy and advocates.

10. Ultimately, resources will have an impact on what advocacy services are 
commissioned and the current financial climate means that we have to be realistic 
about the expectations being placed on local authorities, without additional funding 
being provided.  This is especially the case given the intention to regulate advocacy 
services under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act.

11. At the heart of professional advocacy is the concept of independence.  An 
independent professional advocacy service is designed to provide additional 
safeguards for children and young people.  Consequently, it is imperative that the 
advocates are free to support them, without any conflicts of interest, and to 
appropriately challenge service providers on behalf of the children and young 
people.  The subject of such challenge may include:

• decisions made about a child or young person’s care
• upholding a child or young person’s legal rights; 
• the quality of care being provided.

12. The role of the advocate is to support a child or young person in making an 
informed decision, with their views and wishes as the sole focus.  An advocate will 
help a child or young person to understand his or her rights and the choices 
available; ultimately, any decisions taken by the child or young person will be their 
own, subject to any legal constraints. 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



4

The National Approach to Statutory Advocacy for Children and Young People

13. On behalf of Welsh Government, Dr Mike Shooter undertook a strategic review of 
the evidence in relation to the provision of statutory independent professional 
advocacy services (SIPAS) for children and young people. Minister’s were presented 
with the first report in January 2014. The Report showed that whilst there were 
examples of good practice commissioning and provision of statutory advocacy 
services in Wales was patchy and inconsistent. 

14. Following this review, Ministers invited local government, via ADSS Cymru, in 2014 
to bring forward a model for securing a national approach to SIPAS for looked after 
children and specified groups of children in need.

15. An advocacy Task and Finish Group (T&FG) was established to take this work 
forward, chaired by ADSS Cymru.  The T&FG took responsibility for developing the 
key components of a National Approach to advocacy, aligned to a Standards and 
Outcomes Framework.  The group was asked to explore:
 the recommendation from ‘Missing Voices: Right to be Heard’ (the report by the 

Children’s Commissioner on independent advocacy services for children and 
young people in the care system) in respect of an ‘active offer’; and

 how to deliver the National Approach model at a regional level through lead 
authorities within the existing Social Services Regional Improvement 
Collaboratives (since replaced by Regional Partnership Boards).  

16. The work of the T&FG led to the development of a business case produced towards 
the end of 2015.  It set out the following key components of a national approach: 
 A National Standards and Outcomes framework 
 A Regional Service Specification 
 A Range and Level Mechanism 
 A local/regional performance reporting template.

17. The work of the T&FG identified that the additional cost of implementing a national 
approach with all of these elements for local authorities would be in the region of 
£1m. 

18. Through the ADSS Cymru Executive Council and WLGA’s Social Services Policy 
Group (made up of Elected Members with a responsibility for Social Services) the 
implications of adopting a national approach as set out in the business case were 
considered.  It was agreed that, in principle, both were content to examine further 
how local authorities could take forward a national approach.  However, in 
recognition of the additional costs identified, it was accepted that individual local 
authorities and regions would need to receive further information on the national 
approach and, in particular, the potential financial implications for their individual Tudalen y pecyn 86



5

authorities.  This would enable them to come to an informed view and to engage 
with other authorities in their region.

19. Having received this information earlier in the year, local authorities have indicated 
broad support for developing a national approach, with agreement on the overall 
principles that have been adopted.  Some authorities identified that the draft 
National Approach Specification has already been used to influence current 
contracting arrangements.  However, there were concerns raised about some of the 
implications, especially about how to meet the additional costs identified at a time 
when budgets are being reduced.  Concerns included:
 Some of the additional costs are a result of new requirements placed on local 

authorities in an already challenging financial climate; this is especially the case 
in delivering the ‘active offer’.

 The Business Case uses historical information from 2013/14 as its baseline. For 
a number of authorities, spend on advocacy has changed since this information 
was provided; for example, costs in the North Wales region have decreased as 
a result of regional commissioning.  It is likely that the actual costs to some 
local authorities will be higher than those cited in the business case.

 A number of local authorities were concerned about the need to protect the 
rights of children and young people to opt for other forms of advocacy at the 
outset, as opposed to a narrow choice regarding a uniform ‘active offer’ from 
one provider.

20. Since this time, Welsh Government has confirmed its commitment to providing new 
funding to contribute to and support the provision of independent professional 
advocacy, including the costs of the active offer in full (as this is a new responsibility) 
and a contribution towards the resources required to meet a quality service as set 
out using the range and level tool.  This will help local authorities to meet some of 
the additional costs that will accrue over time.  

21. On this basis, it was agreed that a local government technical group would be set up 
by ADSS Cymru and the WLGA to look at how best to take the work forward and 
support local authorities.  The group met at the start of September to scope out the 
current position and to plan the actions required to take forward the national 
approach.  Representatives from each of the Regional Partnership Board areas were 
part of the group. 

22. The group has recognised that the financial implications identified for local 
authorities in the business case used information from 2014 and so the true costs of 
implementing a national approach may now be different for a number of them.  For 
example, some authorities have seen significant increases in their looked after and 
child protection figures.  If funding were to be provided on the basis of information 
currently held, some authorities may not be adequately supported to meet the new Tudalen y pecyn 87



6

requirements.  Therefore one of the key actions required is to update this 
information to ensure that there is an up-to-date and accurate picture of the financial 
implications on authorities.  This is work that will be undertaken through the 
technical group.

23. Each local authority already has contract arrangements in place to provide statutory 
advocacy to children and young people.  Some areas have already moved to regional 
approaches to commission this service, specifically Mid and West Wales and North 
Wales.  Caerphilly, Torfaen and Blaenau Gwent also have joint arrangements in place 
and will be looking at the potential for creating a Gwent-wide service when existing 
contracts expire, with the active offer to be included in these discussions.  Similarly, 
Cardiff and the Vale have agreed that they will be looking to commission advocacy 
services on a regional basis when existing arrangements come to an end early in the 
next financial year.  Western Bay local authorities are looking at the potential for 
developing a joint tender next year and Cwm Taf have indicated a willingness to put 
in place regional arrangements.  On this basis, it is anticipated that regional 
approaches could be in place across Wales early in the new financial year once local 
authorities commit to this change.  The national approach will need to be supported 
by the partnership framework that is underpinned by the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act 2014, namely Regional Partnership Boards.  Each of the regions will 
look to appoint a lead authority for commissioning purposes.

24. The draft specification developed as part of the National Approach has already been 
included as part of the tendering process recently undertaken in Mid and West 
Wales.  The other regions have indicated support for jointly using the specification to 
re-commission their services.

25. The commissioning approach taken by Mid and West Wales included a separate lot 
for the provision of the ‘active offer’.  Subject to a number of conditions being met 
(full funding being made available from Welsh Government, the current provider 
having capacity and agreement from the local authorities), this part of the contract is 
ready to be instigated and the active offer can be rolled out across Mid and West 
Wales in this financial year.  The other regions can learn from the Mid and West 
Wales tendering approach, how they have included the active offer element and how 
this could be built into future regional commissioning arrangements.

26. The Executive Council of ADSS Cymru has received an update on the work of the 
Local Government Technical Group.  Directors have resolved that: 
• the Executive Council would ask Directors of Social Services to agree that they will 

adopt the national approach;
• each Regional Partnership Board area would undertake to provide a date by which 

it will have used the national approach to commission an advocacy service.

Tudalen y pecyn 88



7

27. ADSS and WLGA are working with regional leads to develop an implementation plan 
identifying how each region has, or how they intend to use the key components of 
the National Approach to commission a service for the region, once they have 
access to Welsh Government funding for the active offer. 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 5

National Approach to Statutory Advocacy for Children and Young People –
Local Government Implementation Plan 2016/17

Advocacy under Part 10 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act

1. One of the principles embedded in the Act is that people are at the heart of the new system and have an equal say in 
deciding the care and support they receive.  It emphasises voice and control – putting the individual and their needs at the 
centre of their care and giving them a voice in, and control over reaching the outcomes that help them achieve well-being. 

2. The child or young person’s views, wishes and feelings, and (where appropriate) those of their parents, are crucial in 
determining what their personal outcomes are and how they can best be met.  The extent to which a child or young person 
can contribute to, and participate in, defining and achieving those outcomes will depend upon their age and understanding, 
and they should be supported in this by a range of professionals and other people involved with them, including (as 
appropriate) their parents, family and friends, social workers, independent reviewing officers, independent visitors and 
advocates.  In implementing the Act, local authorities have placed considerable emphasis on 'Better Conversations' and 
'Inspirational Conversations' training.  This is intended to increase levels of competence among staff across relevant 
organisations in delivering 'What matters?' conversations right from the point of initial discussions with the people who make 
contact because they may need care and support.  

T
udalen y pecyn 90



2

3. It is important then to be aware that advocacy can and should be undertaken by a wide range of people and professionals.  
Anybody exercising functions under the Act must have regard to the importance of providing appropriate support to enable 
the individual to participate in decisions which affect him or her, to the extent which is appropriate in the circumstances.  
Also, the National Outcomes Framework for Social Services sets out well-being outcomes for people who need care and 
support and carers who need support.  The framework states that people must speak for themselves and contribute to the 
decisions affecting their lives, or have someone who can do it for them.  The extent to which this is achieved must be 
measured.  

4. As set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), children and young people have a right to be 
heard in matters affecting their futures.  Wales has ratified the UNCRC as a basis for taking forward children’s rights.  Under 
the Rights of Children and Young Person’s (Wales) Measure 2011, Welsh Ministers have a duty to pay due regard to the 
UNCRC in all of their functions.  The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act requires any persons to have due regard to 
the UNCRC.  Detail on exercising this duty has been provided in the Code of Practice in relation to Part 2 of the Act.  

5. Throughout the Act and under Part 10 specifically, there is a clear and strong emphasis placed on the role of advocacy.  It is 
vital that people are supported appropriately in order to ensure that an individual is enabled to represent their interests, 
exercise their rights, express their views, explore and make informed choices.  A local authority’s duty to provide advocacy 
services (or assistance by way of representation) in relation to its social services functions is re-stated under Sections 171-178 
of the Act.  

6. Local authorities, when exercising their social services functions, must act in accordance with the requirements contained in 
this code.  The overarching duty is to have regard to the importance of providing appropriate support to enable the individual 
to participate in decisions that affect him or her to the extent that is appropriate in the circumstances, particularly where the 
individual’s ability to communicate is limited for any reason (section 6(2)(d)).  Paragraph 35 sets out the roles of family, 

T
udalen y pecyn 91



3

friends, carers, wider support networks or independent advocates in providing appropriate support to ensure individuals are 
actively involved in their care and support. 

7. Detailed guidance is set out in the code of practice on Advocacy under Part 10 and other related Parts of the Act.  
Commissioners of advocacy service and advocacy service providers should be able to establish the quality as well as the 
quantity of their work, providing assurance that they are making a positive difference to children and young people’s lives.  
The Part 10 Code of Practice (Advocacy) applies.

8. In relation to children, this will depend on their age and understanding and they should be supported in this by a range of 
practitioners and other people involved with them including their family and friends.  Any persons providing care and support 
to a child under the age of 16 must ascertain the views of persons providing parental responsibility for the child.  This will be 
crucial in determining how personal outcomes can be achieved.  The code of practice sets out the functions when a local 
authority, in partnership with the individual, must reach a judgement on how advocacy could support the determination and 
delivery of an individual’s personal outcomes; together with the circumstances when a local authority must arrange an 
independent professional advocate.  Professionals and individuals must ensure that judgements about the needs for advocacy 
are integral to the relevant duties under the code.  Options include peer advocacy, informal advocacy, formal advocacy and 
independent professional advocacy.  .

9. It is positive that Part 10 recognises that advocacy can take many forms and that it is not confined to arrangements of an 
independent advocate by a local authority.  For example, the role of a trusted adult already known to a child can be vital.  
There is an important role for local authorities and also for third sector organisations and the NHS to support all types of 
advocacy and advocates.  Ultimately, resources will have an impact on what advocacy services are commissioned and the 
current financial climate means that we have to be realistic about the expectations being placed on local authorities, without 
additional funding being provided.  This is especially the case given the intention to regulate advocacy services under the 
Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act.

T
udalen y pecyn 92



4

10. At the heart of professional advocacy is the concept of independence.  An independent professional advocacy service is 
designed to provide additional safeguards for children and young people.  Consequently, it is imperative that the advocates 
are free to support them, without any conflicts of interest, and to appropriately challenge service providers on behalf of the 
children and young people.  The subject of such challenge may be very broad and can include:

• decisions made about a child or young person’s care
• upholding a child or young person’s legal rights; 
• the quality of care being provided.

11. The role of the advocate is to support a child or young person in making an informed decision, with their views and wishes as 
the sole focus.  An advocate will help a child or young person to understand his or her rights and the choices available.  
Ultimately, any decisions taken by the child or young person will be their own, subject to any legal constraints.  Detailed 
guidance is set out in the code of practice on Advocacy under Part 10 and other related Parts.
 

12. The role of the advocate is to support a child or young person to make an informed decision with the young person’s views 
and wishes being their sole focus.  An advocate will help a child or young person to understand his or her rights and the 
choices of action that are available.  It is vital that commissioners of advocacy services and advocacy service providers can 
measure the quality as well as the quantity of their work, to seek assurance that they are making a positive difference to the 
lives of children and young people.

The National Approach to Statutory Advocacy for Children and Young People

13. On behalf of Welsh Government, Dr Mike Shooter undertook a strategic review of the evidence in relation to the provision of 
statutory independent professional advocacy services (SIPAS) for children and young people.  Ministers were presented with 

T
udalen y pecyn 93



5

the first report in January 2014.  The Report showed that, while there were examples of good practice, commissioning and 
provision of statutory advocacy services in Wales were patchy and inconsistent. 

14. Following this review, in 2014 Ministers invited local government (via ADSS Cymru), to bring forward a model for securing a 
national approach to SIPAS for looked after children and specified groups of children in need.

15. An advocacy Task and Finish Group (T&FG) was established to take this work forward, chaired by ADSS Cymru.  The T&FG 
took responsibility for developing the key components of a National Approach to advocacy, aligned to a Standards and 
Outcomes Framework.  The group was asked to explore:
 the recommendation from ‘Missing Voices: Right to be Heard’ (the report by the Children’s Commissioner on independent 

advocacy services for children and young people in the care system) in respect of an ‘active offer’; and
 how to deliver the National Approach model at a regional level through lead authorities within the existing Social Services 

Regional Improvement Collaboratives (since replaced by Regional Partnership Boards).  

16. The work of the T&FG led to the development of a business case produced towards the end of 2015.  It set out in detail the 
following key components of a national approach: 
A National Standards and Outcomes framework 
A Regional Service Specification 
A Range and Level Mechanism 
A local/regional performance reporting template.
The work of the T&FG identified that the additional cost for local authorities in implementing a national approach with all of 
these elements would be in the region of £1m. 

17. Through the ADSS Cymru Executive Council and WLGA’s Social Services Policy Group (made up of Elected Members with a 
responsibility for Social Services), the implications of adopting a national approach as set out in the business case were 

T
udalen y pecyn 94



6

considered.  It was agreed that, in principle, both were content to examine further how local authorities could take forward a 
national approach.  However, in recognition of the additional costs identified, it was accepted that individual local authorities 
and regions would need to receive further information on the national approach and, in particular, the potential financial 
implications for their individual authorities.  This would enable them to come to an informed view and to engage with other 
authorities in their region.

18. Having received this information earlier, local authorities indicated broad support for developing a national approach, with 
agreement on the overall principles that have been adopted.  Some authorities identified that the draft National Approach 
Specification has already been used to influence current contracting arrangements.  However, there were concerns raised 
about some of the implications, especially about how to meet the additional costs identified at a time when budgets are being 
reduced.  Concerns included:
 Some of the additional costs are a result of new requirements placed on local authorities in an already challenging financial 

climate; this is especially the case in delivering the ‘active offer’.
 The Business Case uses historical information from 2013/14 as its baseline. For a number of authorities, spend on advocacy 

has changed since this information was provided; for example, costs in the North Wales region have decreased as a result 
of regional commissioning.  It is likely that the actual costs to some local authorities will be higher than those cited in the 
business case.

 A number of local authorities were concerned about the need to protect the rights of children and young people to opt for 
other forms of advocacy at the outset, as opposed to a narrow choice regarding a uniform ‘active offer’ from one 
provider.

19. Since this time, Welsh Government has confirmed its commitment to providing new funding to contribute to and support the 
provision of independent professional advocacy, including the costs of the active offer in full (as this is a new responsibility) 
and a contribution towards the resources required to meet a quality service as set out using the range and level tool.  This will 
help local authorities to meet some of the additional costs that will accrue over time.  

T
udalen y pecyn 95



7

20. On this basis, it was agreed that a local government technical group would be set up by ADSS Cymru and the WLGA to look 
at how best to take the work forward and support local authorities.  The group met in September to scope out the current 
position and to plan the actions required to take forward the national approach.  Representatives from each of the Regional 
Partnership Board areas were part of the group. 

21. The group recognised that the financial implications identified for local authorities in the business case used information from 
2014 and so the true costs of implementing a national approach may now be different for a number of them.  For example, 
some authorities have seen significant increases in their looked after and child protection figures.  If funding were to be 
provided on the basis of information currently held, some authorities may not be adequately supported to meet the new 
requirements.  Therefore, one of the key actions required was to update this information to ensure that there is an accurate 
picture of the financial implications for local authorities.  This is work that will be undertaken through the technical group.

22. Each local authority already has contract arrangements in place to provide statutory advocacy to children and young people.  
Some areas have already moved to regional approaches to commission this service, specifically Mid and West Wales, North 
Wales and Cwm Taf.  Caerphilly, Torfaen and Blaenau Gwent also have joint arrangements in place and have agreed to 
create a Gwent-wide service when existing contracts expire.  Similarly, Cardiff and the Vale have agreed that they will be 
looking to commission advocacy services on a regional basis when existing arrangements come to an end early in the next 
financial year.  Western Bay local authorities are developing a joint tender next year.  Each of the regions has appointed a 
lead local authority for commissioning purposes.  On this basis, it is anticipated that regional approaches could be in place 
across Wales in the first quarter of the new financial year, once local authorities individually commit to this change.  The 
national approach will need to be supported by the partnership framework that is underpinned by the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act 2014, namely Regional Partnership Boards.  

T
udalen y pecyn 96



8

23. The draft specification developed as part of the National Approach has already been included as part of the tendering process 
recently undertaken in Mid and West Wales.  The other regions have indicated support for jointly using the specification to re-
commission their services.  The commissioning approach taken by Mid and West Wales included a separate lot for the provision 
of the ‘active offer’.  Subject to a number of conditions being met (full funding being made available from Welsh Government, 
the current provider having capacity and agreement from the local authorities), this part of the contract is ready to be 
instigated and the active offer can be rolled out across Mid and West Wales in this financial year.  North Wales is in the second 
year of a regional contract and the active offer is being piloted in Flintshire.  The other regions can learn from these pioneers in 
terms of the approach to tendering, how the active offer element is included and how this could be built into future regional 
commissioning arrangements.

24. The Executive Council of ADSS Cymru has received an update on the work of the Local Government Technical Group.  
Directors have resolved that: 
• the Executive Council would ask Directors of Social Services to agree that they will adopt the national approach;
• each Regional Partnership Board area would undertake to provide a date by which it will have used the national approach to 

commission an advocacy service.

25. ADSS and WLGA have worked with regional leads to develop an implementation plan identifying how each region has, or how 
they intend to use the key components of the National Approach to commission a service for the region, once they have 
access to Welsh Government funding for the active offer and its contribution towards the resources required to provide a 
quality service as set out in the range and level tool.   

T
udalen y pecyn 97



9

National Approach to Statutory Advocacy for Children and Young People
Local Government Implementation Plan 2016/2017

Purpose: In order to achieve the best possible outcomes for all children in care and those with care and support needs, to commission and 
deliver across Wales consistent statutory independent professional advocacy services on a regional basis, in line with legislation and guidance 
and ensuring provision of the active offer.

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
1. Secure agreement in principle 

from the WLGA and ADSS 
Cymru to implementing the 
key components of the 
national approach set out in 
the Task and Finish Group 
business case (i.e. a National 
Standards and Outcomes 
framework; a Regional Service 
Specification; a Range and 
Level Mechanism to assist 
commissioners in calculating 
the capacity requirements for 
their local/regional 
independent advocacy 
service; and a local/regional 
performance reporting 
template).

To ensure that local 
government is committed 
to adopting the national 
approach

ADSS Cymru April 2016 Achieved - Both the WLGA’s 
Social Services Policy 
Group (made up of Elected 
Members with a portfolio 
responsibility for Social 
Services) and the ADSS 
Cymru Executive Council 
(comprising all Directors of 
Social Services and Chairs 
of Heads of Services 
groups) endorsed the 
direction of travel.  In 
recognition of the additional 
costs identified, it was 
accepted that individual 
local authorities and regions 
would need to receive 
further information on the 
national approach and, in 
particular, the potential 
financial implications for 
them.

T
udalen y pecyn 98



10

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status

2. Ask Welsh Government to 
confirm in principle a 
commitment to providing new 
funding that will contribute to 
and support the provision of 
independent professional 
advocacy. 

To help local authorities 
meet some of the 
additional costs that will 
accrue over time.   

Welsh 
Government

August 
2016

Achieved - The Task and 
Finish Group business case 
identified that, for local 
authorities, the additional 
cost of implementing a 
national approach with all 
the components would be in 
the region of £1m.  Welsh 
Government is willing to 
meet the costs of the active 
offer in full (as this is a new 
responsibility) and to make 
a contribution towards the 
resources required to 
provide a quality service as 
set out through using the 
range and level tool.  

3. Establish a local government 
technical group.

To plan the actions 
required to take forward 
the national approach 
and to support local 
authorities in 
implementation.

ADSS Cymru 
and the WLGA

September 
2016

Achieved - Having received 
information about the 
potential financial 
implications, local 
authorities indicated broad 
support for adopting the 
national approach and 
agreed to set up a local 
government technical group 
to take the work forward.  
Led by ADSS Cymru and 
the WLGA, the group 
started to meet in 
September.  

T
udalen y pecyn 99



11

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
Representatives from each 
of the Regional Partnership 
Board areas are part of the 
group.  

4. Identify Lead Authorities for 
each Regional Partnership 
Board and lead regional 
project managers to take 
forward the task of 
commissioning of advocacy 
services for Children and 
Young People in accordance 
with the key components of 
the national approach as set 
out in the Task and Finish 
Group business case. 

To deliver a regional 
approach to 
commissioning advocacy 
services, to provide 
consistency and to have 
a named person 
responsible for delivery 
of each regional project.

ADSS Cymru October 
2016 

Achieved - The national 
approach will need to be 
supported by the 
partnership framework 
which is underpinned by the 
Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act 2014, namely 
Regional Partnership 
Boards.  All Regions have 
identified the Local Authority 
that will take the lead in their 
region for commissioning 
statutory advocacy for 
children and young people.  
The relevant Head of 
Service will act as the senior 
responsible officer for 
implementation.

Green

5. Update the current position 
relating to the provision of 
advocacy services for Children 
and Young People at local and 
regional levels.

To gain a better 
understanding of the 
current position and the 
capacity of the 
independent sector to 
deliver a new service.

Local 
government 
technical group

November 
2016

Achieved - All regions have 
provided an update to the 
Task and Finish Group on 
their current position relating 
to advocacy services and 
future plans.  

Green

T
udalen y pecyn 100



12

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status

6. Those regions which have just 
started to implement the 
national approach on a 
collective basis develop an 
indicative implementation plan 
for commissioning a regional 
service (subject to corporate 
requirements).

To establish a realistic 
date for implementing the 
national approach in 
each region, including 
corporate and political 
approval.

Heads of 
Service for the 
lead local 
authorities

November 
2016

In progress – updates to be 
considered by the local 
government technical group 
in November.  Currently, 
potential implementation 
dates range from January to 
June 2017, depending on 
availability of funding from 
Welsh Government and the 
termination dates for current 
contracts.

Amber

7. Provide an updated position 
on actual spend in 2015/16 on 
advocacy services for children 
and young people at Local 
Authority and regional levels. 

To updated financial 
information about the 
funding available for the 
provision of independent 
advocacy services and to 
identify gaps in funding.

Local 
government 
implementation 
group – 
Rhondda 
Cynon Taf lead

December
2016

In progress - Local 
Authorities are currently 
gathering the relevant 
information on spend for 
2015/16. 

Amber

T
udalen y pecyn 101



13

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status

8. Apply the 2015/16 figures for 
relevant children to the range 
and level assessment tool to 
determine capacity required in 
each region.

To provide an up to date 
position on the additional 
capacity required to 
deliver the active offer 
and to assist with the 
calculation of additional 
funding requirements, 
including delivery of the 
active offer.    

Local 
government 
implementation 
group - 
Rhondda 
Cynon Taf lead

December 
2016

In progress - Figures have 
been requested from local 
authorities.  Since the 
business case was put 
together, some of them 
have seen significant 
increases in their figures for 
children who are looked 
after or in need of 
protection.  Up to date 
information is also being 
obtained from Stats Wales.

Once the information 
becomes available, Cordis 
Bright and the Local 
Government Data Unit will 
be asked to put updated 
information about potential 
need through the database 
used in compiling the 
Business Case 
(incorporating the range and 
level assessment tool) to 
determine capacity 
requirements.  

Amber

T
udalen y pecyn 102



14

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status

9. Calculate the additional 
funding required to deliver the 
‘Active Offer’ as defined in the 
Business Case.

To provide an up to date 
figure for the additional 
funding requirement from 
Welsh Government to 
meet these additional 
costs.

Local 
government 
implementation 
group - 

December 
2016

In progress - As the financial 
implications identified for 
Local Authorities in the 
business case used 
information from 2014, the 
true costs of implementing a 
national approach may be 
different for some of them.  
Calculations based on 
2014/15 information 
estimated that £1,002,663 
was needed to implement 
the national approach 
(including the active offer).  
This figure will be updated 
once the data for 2015/16 is 
available.

Amber

T
udalen y pecyn 103



15

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
10. Calculate the additional 

funding required to deliver the 
on-going advocacy services 
for which Local Authorities are 
responsible.

To provide up to date 
figure for the additional 
funding Local Authorities 
need to provide to meet 
the additional costs of 
delivering advocacy 
services in line with the 
national approach. 

Local 
government 
implementation 
group - 
Rhondda 
Cynon Taf lead 

November 
2016

In progress – Local 
Authorities will need to 
confirm allocation of funding 
to meet the additional need 
identified through this 
process.

Welsh Government is 
looking to provide between 
£500k and £550k to meet 
the costs of the active offer 
in full and contribute 
towards the resources 
required to provide a quality 
service as set out by using 
the range and level tool.  

Amber

11. Each region to confirm formal 
agreement by the Local 
Authorities in their area to use 
the key components of the 
National Approach to Statutory 
Advocacy for Children and 
Young People when 
commissioning this service 
and to inform their Regional 
Partnership Board.

To use existing 
governance 
arrangements to obtain 
high level commitment 
and buy in from each 
Region to the national 
approach.

All Regional 
Partnership 
Boards

December 
2016

In progress – Some regions 
are well advanced in 
securing this commitment 
and others have plans in 
place to do so  

Amber

T
udalen y pecyn 104



16

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
12. Appoint a senior manager on a 

temporary basis (initially six 6 
months) to oversee and co-
ordinate introduction of the 
national approach.

To implement this plan 
within required 
timescales.

ADSS Cymru December 
2016

In progress - The 
Implementation Manager 
will assist the lead local 
authorities to adopt best 
practice in commissioning 
regional advocacy services 
across Wales and work with 
Welsh Government on work 
to underpin the national 
approach.  Welsh 
Government has agreed to 
provide a grant for this 
purpose.  A job description 
and person specification are 
being developed to enable 
recruitment to this post.  We 
are exploring mechanisms 
for identifying and 
appointing a suitably 
qualified person to ensure 
no loss of momentum.

Amber

13. Develop a National 
Independent Advocacy 
Standards and Outcomes 
Framework for Children and 
Young People in Wales which 
includes an approach to the 
‘active offer’ of advocacy. 

To demonstrate how 
local authorities can 
evidence the way 
children and young 
people are supported to 
achieve their well-being 
outcomes by accessing 
advocacy.

Welsh 
Government  
and the 
Implementation 
Manager

TBC Welsh Government to 
confirm progress with this 
action.

TBC

T
udalen y pecyn 105



17

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
14. Consult with stakeholders on 

the outcome statements 
contained in the National 
Independent Advocacy 
Standards and Outcomes 
Framework and develop a final 
draft of the Framework taking 
into account this consultation.

To meet the needs of the 
people using this service 
and deliver the required 
outcomes for children 
and young people.

Welsh 
Government 
and the 
Implementation 
Manager

TBC Welsh Government to 
confirm progress with this 
action.

TBC

15. Publish the National 
Independent Advocacy 
Standards and Outcomes 
Framework

To manage expectations 
and deliver the required 
outcomes of children and 
young people.

Welsh 
Government 

TBC Welsh Government to 
confirm progress with this 
action.

TBC

16. Develop a service 
specification outlining the 
description and requirements 
of the advocacy service to be 
provided. 

To assist regions with 
commissioning the 
statutory advocacy 
service that works to 
deliver a consistent 
model of independent 
professional advocacy. 

Task and 
Finish Group

October 
2016

Achieved – A service 
specification has been 
developed.

Green

17 Co-ordinate use of the national 
documentation, including the 
service specification, to 
commission independent 
advocacy services.

To ensure that the 
service specification is fit 
for purpose and lessons 
learned are shared with 
other regions and to 
adopt best practice in 
commissioning advocacy 
services across Wales.

Implementation 
Manager

From 
December 
2016-June 
2017

Mid and West Wales and 
North Wales have started to 
share with other 
commissioning leads their 
experience of using the 
national approach.

 

T
udalen y pecyn 106



18

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
18. Commission independent 

advocacy services in each 
Region in line with the national 
approach to statutory 
advocacy for children and 
young people, taking into 
account the ‘lessons learned’ 
report.

To enable children and 
young people in Wales to 
have access to 
independent professional 
advocacy services.

All Regions June 2017 This work is dependent on 
the ability of regions to 
implement their plans on 
time, on good outcomes 
from using the national 
specification and on the 
capacity of service 
providers.

Red

19. Develop a performance 
management reporting 
template for use by 
professional advocacy 
services, so that information is 
captured in a consistent 
format. 

To monitor service 
providers and ensure 
that high quality services 
are delivering the 
outcomes required by 
children and young 
people.

Local 
government 
implementation 
group

November 
2016

Achieved - A reporting 
template has been 
developed for use by 
independent professional 
advocacy services enabling 
them to capture consistently 
data required for reporting 
on performance and quality 
monitoring.  This data will be 
collected on local, regional 
and national levels.  The 
information generated will 
bring to light any problems 
in securing a consistent and 
effective approach across 
Wales.

Green

T
udalen y pecyn 107



19

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
20 Include a regional update on 

progress in adopting the 
national approach in the 
Annual Report produced by 
each Regional Partnership 
Board. 

To provide robust 
monitoring on progress.

Regional 
Partnership 
Boards

April 2017 The Statutory Guidance 
(Partnership Arrangements) 
under Part 9 of the Social 
Services and Well- being 
(Wales) Act  2014 require 
Regional Partnership 
Boards to prepare a report 
on the extent to which the 
Board’s objectives have 
been achieved.  The first 
report must be prepared and 
submitted by 1 April 2017.  
There is an opportunity to 
include in this report an 
account of progress made in 
adopting the national 
approach to advocacy.

Amber

21. Liaise with Local Health 
Boards and Education 
regarding the provision of 
advocacy for children and 
young people accessing these 
services.

To encourage awareness 
of the national approach.

Regional 
Partnership 
Boards 

December 
2016

Mid and West Wales have 
included the requirements 
for Health and Education 
services when 
commissioning its service.  

Amber

22. Liaise with local authorities in 
ensuring that they use their 
corporate parenting 
arrangements to oversee 
delivery of the advocacy 
service and respond to issues. 

To engage with lead 
members, Corporate 
Parenting Panels and 
Scrutiny Committees to 
deliver the requirements 
of the National Standards 
and Outcome 
Framework.

Welsh 
Government,
WLGA and 
ADSS Cymru

TBC TBC TBC

T
udalen y pecyn 108



20

No Action Desired Outcome Lead Timescale Update Status
23. Fully implement the national 

approach across Wales
To secure a national 
approach to statutory 
advocacy for children 
and young people and 
deliver an outcome 
focused service.

Local 
government 
implementation 
group

June 2017 Ongoing work in progress.  
It will be important to 
engage with CSSIW as this 
is a regulated service.   

Amber

24 Conduct an independent 
review on progress at the end 
of the first year of 
implementation.

To report on 
improvements made and 
benefits achieved and to 
identify any adjustments 
required.

Welsh 
Government

March 2018 TBC

T
udalen y pecyn 109



CYPE(5)-13-16 – Papur | Paper 6 – i’w nodi | to note

Elin Jones, AM
Llywydd
Chair of the Business Committee 

Dear Elin

25 November 2016

Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill: Proposed Timetable

Thank you for your letter of 23 November enclosing the proposed timetable for 
the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill. 

The Children, Young People and Education Committee considered the timetable at 
its meeting on 24 November. The Committee notes that the 12 working weeks 
allocated to Stage 1 meets the usual timetable for Bills, but has serious concerns 
relating to the time allocated for scrutiny of the Bill and the related Code of 
Practice. 

Section 4 of the Bill will require Welsh Ministers to issue a Code of Practice, which 
will underpin the provisions set out on the face of the Bill. If both the Bill and its 
Code were available on introduction, the timetable would be acceptable to the 
Committee. However, the Committee understands that the Code will not be 
published by Welsh Government until mid-February, and if this is the case, the 
proposed timetable does not appear to take account of that. 

It will be extremely difficult to effectively scrutinise the Bill itself without sight of 
the Code, and the Committee believes that the Bill and the Code should be 
published and made available for scrutiny at the same time. If there is a delay in 
publishing the Code, then a revised Bill timetable should be considered to help 
ensure effective Stage 1 scrutiny. 

Time available for Committee scrutiny

Tudalen y pecyn 110

Eitem 5.1



It is vital that sufficient time is available for consideration / scrutiny of the Code. 
Working back from the proposed Stage 1 deadline of 7 April, and taking into 
consideration the time necessary for preparing and publishing our Stage 1 Report, 
the Committee would only have 3 or 4 weeks for consideration and scrutiny of the 
Code. Engagement with stakeholders & practitioners and more crucially parents, 
carers and young people, will play a key part in the evidence gathering process at 
Stage 1. The limited time available for consideration of the Code would be 
detrimental to that evidence gathering, and will very much compromise Stage 1 
scrutiny of the Bill.

The Committee recommends that the Welsh Government considers the proposed 
timetable, taking account of the concerns above, and extends the time available 
for Stage 1. The Committee would suggest a deadline for Stage 1 Committee 
consideration of 12 May. This would add two working weeks to Stage 1, but in 
maximising the full use of the Easter recess, would potentially provide an 
additional four weeks for extended public engagement on both the Bill and the 
Code.

The Committee acknowledges that this may have a knock on effect on the later 
stages of the Bill, but without full and effective Stage 1 scrutiny, we are concerned 
that the later amending stages could be more difficult to manage. The added time 
at Stage 1 could therefore be saved in part during the later stages.

The Committee would be extremely grateful if Welsh Government could give early 
consideration to revising the timetable, or alternatively, ensuring that the Code of 
Practice was made available at the time of introduction.  

Yours sincerely

Lynne Neagle AC / AM
Cadeirydd / Chair

Tudalen y pecyn 111



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 112

Eitem 7 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 148

Eitem 8 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad i'r Grant Gwella Addysg: Plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig - sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	CYPE(5) -13-16 - Papur | Paper 1 - Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg
	CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 2 - Estyn

	3 Ymchwiliad i'r Grant Gwella Addysg: Plant Sipsiwn, Roma a Theithwyr, a phlant o leiafrifoedd ethnig - sesiwn dystiolaeth 2
	4 Ymchwiliad i ddarpariaeth eiriolaeth statudol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 3
	CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 4 - Cymdeithas Cyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Cymru a Chymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru
	CYPE(5)-13-16 - Papur | Paper 5 - Cynllun Gweithredu – Agwedd Genedlaethol tuag at Eiriolaeth Statudol

	5.1 Llythyr at y Pwyllgor Busnes ynghylch yr amserlen arfaethedig ar gyfer y Bil Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a'r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru)
	7 Adroddiad Drafft ar yr Ymchwiliad Gwaith Ieuenctid
	8 Blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor - cytuno ar yr ymchwiliad nesaf



